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Our vision is to become a major player in the

international market pulp industry, supported by

our synergistic construction business.

With focus on quality, cost-efficiency, safety,

sustainability and environmental responsibility

in our business operations, we deliver and add

value for all our stakeholders.

Our Vision
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Adding Value

Chairman and CEO’s Message

We are pleased to report that United Fiber System Ltd (“UFS”) has made
significant headway in FY2004 towards realising its vision of becoming a major
global player in the pulp industry. We are also turning around operationally
with a net profit of S$0.77 million for the year from losses recorded in the
preceding few years.

Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström (Chairman) and Kishore Dass (Chief Executive Officer)
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UFS capped a signif icant milestone when the

construction of its South Kalimantan woodchip mill began

in the first quarter of 2005. This followed the successful

tie-up of loan arrangements with an Austrian and a

Chinese bank, and the ironing-out of complex issues

involved in the project. Barring unforeseen circumstances,

construction of the woodchip mill should be completed

within a year and we should expect to see its contributions

in FY2006.

Furthermore, we have also made steady progress in our

pulp mill project which has the required insurance and

financing arrangements in place. In addition, we have

successfully secured an Equity Line Facility of S$40 million

and a Loan Note of S$7.5 million from a US-based fund

manager, Cornell Capital Partners Offshore, LP. Proceeds

from these two lines will be used to finance pre-operating

expenses of both the woodchip and pulp mill projects, as

well as for general corporate purposes.

While it had been reported last year that the Jakarta

Administration High Court had overturned the former

Indonesian Minister of Forestry’s revocation of UFS’

forest concession right in June 2003 and handed us a

victory, the Indonesian Minister of Forestry had

subsequently lodged an appeal with the State

Administrative Supreme Court of Jakarta in April 2004

and the outcome of this appeal is still pending. However,

based on legal advice and our on-going discussions

with the new Minister, we are optimistic that the case

will again be resolved in our favour.

In conducting its business, UFS places great store in its

twin corporate principles of living up to its environmental

and social responsibilities. Committed to the protection of

the rainforest’s high biodiversity value, we plant our trees

only on non-productive grasslands and bushlands.

Moreover, we are also active in contributing to local

infrastructural development and job training so as to

improve the livelihood and local economy of the community

where we have anchored our business.

On the business side, UFS has strived to enhance long-

term shareholder value by divesting its non-core and loss-

making companies over the past few years. Significantly,

we have completed the disposal of its columbarium

development in FY2004.

Group revenue in FY2004 was down 41% to S$92.4

million due mainly to lower contributions from the Access

Equipment Division (which had divested its non-core

subsidiaries in FY2003) and the Construction and

Property Divisions. Gross profit slid 31% to S$7.5 million

on a year-on-year comparison while gross profit margin

rose by 1% to 8% in FY2004. Meanwhile, depreciation

and amortisation also decreased by 11% to S$8.1 million

as a direct result of the Group’s divestment exercise.

In terms of segmental results, the Forestry and Pulp

Divisions were the star performers recording a 1,442%

jump in profit to S$18.5 million in FY2004. This profit was

derived from the increase in fair value less estimated point-

of-sale costs of forest asset as a result of the upward price

trend of plantation wood.



4

Adding Value

Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström
Chairman

Kishore Dass
Chief Executive Officer

18 March 2005

The Construction and Property Divisions, while recording

sharp declines in revenue for FY2004, did creditably under

sluggish market conditions. The Construction Division

secured two new building contracts for Urbana and The

Cosmopolitan condominium projects worth S$95.7 million,

while all remaining units of The Alessandrea were sold

during the course of the year. The Group expects these

construction projects to contribute positively to its

operating results from FY2005 to FY2007.

Looking ahead, FY2005 will be another exciting and

eventful year for us. Barring unforeseen circumstances,

we are looking forward to the start of the woodchip mill

operation in the first half of 2006 as well as to finalise the

development work for the pulp mill project. Apart from

Indonesia, we will actively pursue investment opportunities

in related forestry and pulp-based businesses in the region

as part of our expansion plan.

The Construction Division is also expected to see an

expansion in its order book given the anticipated upturn

in construction demand in FY2005. In the meantime, UFS

will continue to employ suitable marketing and pricing

strategies to sell the remaining units of The Mornington.

In view of the progress made in its core businesses of

construction, woodchip mill and pulp mill development,

UFS has further strengthened its management capability.

To enhance corporate performance, accountability as well

Chairman and CEO’s Message

as corporate governance, the roles of the Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer have been separated. We also
have the pleasure to welcome Mr Ang Lian Hai to UFS’

Board of Directors. Mr Ang was appointed as an

Independent Director of the Company with effect from
20 October 2004 and also serves as a member of the

Audit, Remuneration and Nominating Committees. During

the year, Dr Toh Keng Kiat and Mr Lars Göran Bjuström
stepped down as Directors of the Company. We bid them

farewell and wish to thank them for their valuable

contributions to the Group.

Lastly, we would like to extend our thanks to our fellow

board directors for their support and contribution; and also
to the management and staff for their dedication and

teamwork over the year. On behalf of the board, we would

also like to thank our customers, business associates and
shareholders for their continued support.
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Quality and environmental responsibility are key

concerns in our fiber business. We are in the

final development stage to construct a world-

class pulp mill with environmentally friendly

technology. We have also begun the

construction of a wood chip mill of international

size in the first quarter of 2005. All these

activities are in full compliance with the stringent

environmental requirements of the World Bank

and the Government of Indonesia.

Concerned with environmental forestry as

well ,  we have al igned our sustainable

reforestation programme to be carried out only

on non-productive grass-, scrub- and

bushlands, to protect natural forests with high

biodiversity value.

Our Sustainable Development
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Business Review
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Pulp Mill Project

PT Marga Buana Bumi Mulia (“PT MBBM”), a wholly owned

Indonesian subsidiary of the Group, holds a license to

build and operate a hardwood kraft pulp mill in South

Kalimantan, Indonesia. The pulp mill, with a production

capacity of 600,000 tonnes of pulp per annum, will be

built on a 340-hectare land within the forest concession

area held by PT Hutan Rindang Banua (“PT HRB”). The

pulp mill, which requires a maximum estimated

construction period of 36 months, will be designed to use

primarily planted Acacia Mangium as raw material for the

production of market pulp.

On 18 December 2002, PT MBBM had entered into a

turnkey contract with China National Machinery &

Equipment Import & Export Corporation (“CMEC”) for the

construction of the major part of the pulp mill (“Pulp Mill

project”) for a total development cost of up to US$863

million. Under the turnkey contract, CMEC is providing a

contractor’s credit (“Supplier Credit”) for 80% of the

development costs of the Pulp Mill project at an interest

rate of 6% per annum compounded semi-annually, while

PT MBBM is responsible for the remaining 20%. There is

a 3-year grace period for the repayment of the Supplier

Credit on both principal and interest. The repayment period

for the Supplier Credit is 7 years starting in the fourth year

when the pulp mill commences commercial production.

The turnkey contract shall take effect upon fulfillment of all

conditions precedent by the relevant stakeholders.

Prior to FY2004, PT MBBM had finalised the following

activities related to the turnkey contract:

• Selection of and negotiations with main equipment

suppliers; and

• Technical specifications and commercial aspects of

the contract.

In FY2004, the following significant progress under the

turnkey contract has been made:

• CMEC has executed the purchase contract with a value

of more than US$250 million for the main process

machinery with Andritz OY, one of the world’s leading

suppliers to the pulp and paper industry;

• CMEC has obtained in-principle approval from its

bankers for the Supplier Credit;

• CMEC has sought internal approval by the Ministry of

Finance and the State Council of the Republic of China,

in support of its Supplier Credit ;

• CMEC has also confirmed that China Export & Credit

Insurance Corporation (“Sinosure”), in conjunction

with international insurers, has agreed to provide the

coverage of related insurances for the Pulp Mill

project; and

• All project and necessary loan documentation is

expected to be finalised by 31 March 2005.
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Business Review

Woodchip Mill Project

PT Mangium Anugerah Lestari (“PT MAL”), a wholly owned

Indonesian subsidiary of the Group, was established for

manufacturing and trading of woodchips.

During FY2004, PT MAL has entered into a turnkey

contract with China National Machinery & Equipment

Import & Export Corporation (“CMEC”) for the construction

and development of a woodchip mill in South Kalimantan,

with an annual production capacity of 700,000 tonnes

of woodchips, for a total development cost of up to

US$39 million.

Financing arrangements for the construction of the

woodchip mill have been concluded. Construction of the

woodchip mill will commence in the first quarter of 2005

and the mill is targeted to be completed within one year.

Forestry Division

PT Hutan Rindang Banua (“PT HRB”), a wholly owned

Indonesian subsidiary of the Group, holds a forest

concession right of 268,585 hectares in South Kalimantan,

Indonesia. The forest concession right entitles PT HRB to

plant, maintain, process and market products extracted

from the concession area for a period of 43 years

commencing from 27 February 1998.

Approximately 76,000 hectares of the forest concession

area have been planted with Acacia Mangium, a fast

growing leguminous species, which can be processed into

market pulp of excellent quality for the production of tissue;

and printing and writing papers. A substantial area of the

plantation is ready for harvesting.

To ensure sufficient mature trees for annual harvesting on

a sustainable basis as raw material for the Group’s planned

pulp mill, PT HRB will continue to plant Acacia Mangium

on available grass-, scrub- and bushlands within the

concession area. The company has undertaken a

reforestation programme on its concession area for the

long term availability of sustainable and recoverable wood

raw material resource.

Jaakko Pöyry, a reputable international engineering and

consulting group specialising in forestry based industries,

has undertaken a recent valuation exercise and ascribed

a fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of the forest

asset of approximately US$193.4 million.

While the Forestry Division has not contributed any revenue

this year as operations have yet to commence, it

contributed an operating profit of S$18.4 million. The

operating profit was mainly derived from the gain arising

from the increase in fair value less estimated point-of-sale

costs of the forest assets.

Woodchip Mill Schematic
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Quality projects in our construction and property

development businesses are enabled by our

investments in safety and environmental

management systems on site. We also carry out

environmental landscaping in the form of lush

flora and greenery, to create natural settings

amidst contemporary architecture.

Our Quality Investments
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Construction Division

The Construction Division achieved a revenue of S$76

million and operating profit of S$1.4 million in FY2004.

Since the end of the last financial year, Poh Lian

Construction Pte Ltd (“PLC”) has clinched two new high-

end condominium building contracts, namely Urbana and

The Cosmopolitan, both located at River Valley Road.

Urbana consists of one 36-storey block with 126 dwelling

units and a basement car park. The contract value is

S$33.3 million and work has commenced in mid-

September 2004. The bulk of the revenue and profit

from this project is expected to be recognised in FY2005

and FY2006.

The Cosmopolitan project is a joint venture by PLC and

Shimizu Corporation. The project consists of two 36-storey

blocks with 228 dwelling units and a basement car park.

The contract value is S$62.4 million and work has

commenced in end February 2005. The bulk of the revenue

and profit from this project is expected to be recognised

from FY2005 to FY2007.

Another notable achievement during the year was PLC’s

Construction Excellence Merit Award 2004 for its

outstanding performance in the East Meadows

Condominium project, awarded by the Building and

Construction Authority (“BCA”).

After five years of contraction, positive growth is anticipated

for the Singapore construction market from FY2005,

following a stabilisation of property prices. Some large

projects are expected from the government sector as well.

Construction demand is expected to be in the region of

$12 billion to $13 billion per year in the medium term,

according to BCA.

To stay ahead of competition, PLC will continue to place

great emphasis on quality and performance. Equal

importance will be placed on safety and environmental

management systems on site.

With an order book of S$170 million and an outstanding

track record as an A1 contractor, PLC is confident of

contributing positively to the Group’s revenue in FY2005.
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Business Review

Property Division

The Property Division recorded a revenue of S$16.1 million

and a slight loss of S$0.2 million in FY2004.

The two main projects of the Property Division, namely

The Alessandrea and The Mornington, achieved significant

progress during the year. All units at The Alessandrea were

sold and The Mornington obtained TOP (Temporary

Occupation Permit) in December 2004.

Generally, Singapore’s residential market has been rather

sluggish in recent years. Nonetheless, the recovery of the

residential market should be sustainable, although slow,

on the back of Singapore’s economic growth. The price

index of private property has edged up 0.9% in 2004 from

that in 2003.

The current focus of Poh Lian Realty Pte Ltd (“PLR”) is to

work closely with marketing agents and adopt appropriate

marketing and pricing strategies to sell the remaining units

at The Mornington. Great care and diligence will be

exercised when replenishing its land bank.
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Corporate Structure

United Fiber
System Ltd
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Board of Directors

1 Mr Ang Mong Seng

2 Mr Lee Kan Yuk

3 Mr Ang Lian Hai

4 Mr Chia Quee Hock

5 Mr Wong Vun Khi

6 Mr Kishore Dass

7 Mr Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström

8 Mr Choo Lye Heng
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Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström

Mr Edström joined United Fiber System Ltd (“UFS” or

“the Company”) as Executive Director on 1 June 2002.

He was appointed as the Chairman cum Chief Executive

Officer (CEO) on 1 October 2002. On 14 September

2004, Mr Edström relinquished his post as the CEO and

remains as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the

Company. Pursuant to Article 107 of the Company’s

Article of Association, Mr Edström is due for re-election

at the Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting

on 22 April 2005.

Mr Edström has more than 35 years of experience in the

international pulp and paper industry. Prior to joining the

Company, he was the President of Kvaerner ASA’s

Representative Office/Kvaerner Pulp and Paper Asia in

Jakarta, Indonesia. Mr Edström is a director of various

subsidiaries in the UFS Group of Companies.

Mr Edström holds a Master of Science in Chemical

Engineering (Pulp and Paper) from The Royal Institute of

Technology (KTH), Stockholm, Sweden. He is also a

member of SPCI (The Swedish Association of Pulp and

Paper Engineers).

Chia Quee Hock, PBM

Mr Chia has been Executive Director of UFS since 1997.

He was appointed as the Deputy Chairman of the

Company on 1 June 2002. Mr Chia is also a member of

the Nominating Committee of the Company. He was last

re-elected to the Board on 23 April 2004.

Mr Chia has more than 25 years of working experience in

the construction industry.

Currently, Mr Chia is the Honorary Patron of Pasir Ris East

Community Club Management Committee and Bukit

Gombak Community Centre Management Committee.

He is also a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors

and sits on the Advisory Committee of Tampines

Junior College.

Kishore Dass

Mr Kishore Dass was appointed as the CEO and Executive

Director of the Company on 14 September 2004.

Pursuant to Article 117 of the Company’s Article of

Association, Mr Dass is due for re-election at the Company’s

forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 22 April 2005.

Mr Dass has 20 years of experience in the pulp & paper

industry. Prior to joining the Company, he was the

President of Kvaerner Pulping Pte Ltd, Singapore, which

is part of the AKER-KVAERNER Group of Companies

based in Norway.

Mr Dass obtained his Executive Master of Business

Administration from the Helsinki School of Economics,

Finland. He also holds a Bachelor of Science in

Chemical Engineering from the Polytechnic of Wales,

Mid-Glamorgan, Wales, United Kingdom. Mr Dass is a

member of the Singapore Institute of Directors.

Lee Kan Yuk

Mr Lee joined UFS as Vice President, Fiber Division on

1 June 2002. He was appointed as Chief Operating

Officer (COO) and Executive Director on 21 October 2002.

Mr Lee is also a member of the Remuneration Committee.

He is due for re-election at the Company’s forthcoming

Annual General Meeting on 22 April 2005.

Mr Lee has 20 years of experience in the pulp and paper

industry. Prior to joining the Company, he was the General

Manager of the Pulp Mill Division of PT Marga Buana

Bumi Mulia.

Mr Lee holds a Bachelor of Science (Honours) in Chemical

Engineering from The Queen’s University of Belfast, United

Kingdom. He also holds a Diploma in Pulp and Paper

Technology from AF-IPK Industrins Process Konsult/

Swedish Forest Industries, Sweden.
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Board of Directors

Wong Vun Khi

Mr Wong was appointed as Executive Director of UFS on

12 March 2003. He joined as General Manager (Project

Office), Fiber Division of the Company on 3 March 2003.

Mr Wong was last re-elected to the Board on 23 May 2003.

Mr Wong has 20 years of experience in the pulp & paper

industry. Prior to joining the Company, he was the Plant

Manager (Chemical Plant) of PT Pindo Deli Pulp & Paper

Mills, Indonesia. Mr Wong is a director of various

subsidiaries in the UFS Group of Companies.

Mr Wong obtained his Bachelor of Science (Honours) in

Chemical Engineering from the University of Newcastle-

Upon-Tyne, United Kingdom. He also holds a Diploma in

Pulp and Paper Technology from AF-IPK Industrins

Process Konsult/Swedish Forest Industries, Sweden.

Ang Mong Seng, BBM

Mr Ang has been an Independent Non-Executive Director

of the Company since 1997. Mr Ang is a member of the

Audit Committee and was recently appointed as the

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the

Company. Mr Ang was last re-elected to the Board on

23 April 2004.

Mr Ang is a Member of Parliament for Hong Kah GRC

(Bukit Gombak). He has more than 25 years of experience

in estate management. He is the Chief Operating Officer

of EM Services Pte Ltd, Chairman of Hong Kah Town

Council and Vice Chairman of South-West Community

Development Council.

Mr Ang is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of

Ecowise Holdings Limited, Vicplas International Ltd, AnnAik

Ltd and Chip Eng Seng Corporation Limited. Besides being

a member of the Audit Committees of these companies,

Mr Ang also serves as a member of the Nominating and

Remuneration Committees in Chip Eng Seng Corporation

Limited, and is a member of the Nominating Committee

and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee in Ecowise

Holdings Limited.

Mr Ang holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the

Nanyang University.

Choo Lye Heng

Mr Choo Lye Heng has been an Independent Non-

Executive Director of the Company since 1997. He is the

Chairman of the Nominating Committee and was recently

also appointed as the Chairman of the Audit Committee

of the Company. Mr Choo was last re-elected to the Board

on 23 April 2004.

Mr Choo, the Senior Partner and Director of Stewardship

Capital Pte Ltd, has more than 20 years of experience in

the merchant banking and finance industry. His experience

includes serving as the Managing Director of Carr Indosuez

Asia (S) Ltd, the Singapore merchant-banking subsidiary

of Banque Indosuez. The Stewardship Group of

Companies, in which Mr Choo is a director, provides

business consulting and facilitation services and conducts

training programs for the financial service industry.

Mr Choo is a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors

Mr Choo holds a Bachelor of Business Administration

degree from the University of Singapore.

Ang Lian Hai

Mr Ang was appointed Independent Non-Executive

Director of the Company on 20 October 2004. He is a

member of the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee

and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Pursuant

to Article 117 of the Company’s Article of Association,

Mr Ang is due for re-election at the Company’s

forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 22 April 2005.

Mr Ang has close to 20 years of experience in the plantation

and trading sectors. He is a Director and shareholder of

ANGBRO Corporation Sdn Bhd and Sri Kuli Sdn Bhd in

Sabah, Malaysia. Currently, Mr Ang is a Party Bersatu

Sabah (PBS) Supreme Council member, Divisional Head

of PBS Tanjung Papat Division, Sandakan, Sabah, English

Secretary of Sandakan Hockien Association, Assistant

Secretary of the Management Committee of Chi Hwa

Primary School, Sabah, Committee Member of Chi Hwa

Kindergarten Management Committee, Sabah, Committee

Member of Sabah Thalassaemia Society, Sandakan

Division, Sabah and Member of Buddhist Tzu-Chi Merit

Society Malaysia, Sandakan Branch, Sabah.

Mr Ang obtained his Bachelor of Science in Electronics

from Salford University, United Kingdom. He also holds

professional licences of Futures Brokers Representative,

Stock Dealer and Person Dealing in Unit Trusts in Malaysia.
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Ang Seng Fui is Commissioner of PT Marga Buana Bumi Mulia (“PT MBBM”) and PT Mangium Anugerah Lestari

(“PT MAL”). He is responsible for all site activities of PT MBBM and PT MAL. He has more than 15 years of experience

in the pulp and paper industry. Prior to joining PT MBBM, Mr Ang was the Electrical Engineer of Sabah Forest

Industries Sdn Bhd. Mr Ang holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from University of Manitoba,

Winnipeg, Canada.

Artomo Urip Singodirejo, SH is Commissioner of PT Hutan Rindang Banua (“PT HRB”). Mr Singodirejo has extensive

experience in the legal system of Indonesia with over 30 years as District Attorney and Public Prosecutor in Indonesia.

He was previously Head of the High Public Prosecutor in Lampung, Indonesia.

Djohan Effendi is President Commissioner of PT MBBM. He has over 40 years of governmental experience and was

formerly the State Secretary of the Republic of Indonesia. Mr Effendi also known as the activist of several NGOs in

promoting pluralism and multiculturalism. Mr Effendi graduated from Deakin University, Australia.

Fang Lee Wei is Finance Manager of the Group involving in the finance and accounting functions of the Construction

and Property Divisions. She also serves as the Company Secretary for the Singapore-incorporated subsidiary companies

of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Fang spent almost six years in the Audit and Corporate Finance Divisions of

Ernst & Young. Ms Fang is a CPA of Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Singapore. She graduated from Nanyang

Technological University with a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours) degree and has obtained a Master of Commerce

degree from University of New South Wales, Australia.

Indrawan Prakasa is Production Director of PT HRB since October 2004 and responsible for the overall operations

of the forest plantation. He has over 14 years of experience in forest plantation. Prior to joining PT HRB, Mr Prakasa was

the Forest Production Manager of the Musi Hutan Persada Industrial Forest Plantation, South Sumatera. Mr Prakasa

obtained his Master Degree majoring in Human Resources from Merdeka University, Malang, Indonesia. He also holds

a degree in Agricultural Engineering from INSTIPER Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

Kelvin Ang is Finance Manager of the Company involving in the finance and accounting functions of the Fiber Division.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr Ang held a managerial position in the Assurance Division of KPMG Malaysia. He obtained

his Bachelor of Business (Accountancy) degree from Queensland University of Technology, Australia and is a member of

the Australia CPA, Australia and Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Kok Nye Kwang is General Manager (Fiberline), Fiber Division of the Company. He is responsible for the commissioning,

start-up, production, quality control and maintenance of the pulp mill. Mr Kok has more than 17 years of experience in

the pulp and paper industry. Prior transferring to the Group, he was Fiberline Manager in PT Marga Buana Bumi Mulia.

He was formerly the Pulp Mill Process Engineer and Pulp Mill Area Manager of Sabah Forest Industries Sdn Bhd. Mr Kok

holds a Diploma in Pulp and Paper Technology from AF-IPK Industrins Process Konsult/Swedish Forest Industries,

Sweden, and a Diploma in Industrial Chemistry from Mara Institute of Technology, Malaysia.

Lee Mie Peik, Regina is Group Financial Controller responsible for all aspects of financial planning, financial budgeting

and control, and corporate matters of the Group. Ms Lee also assists the management in formulating the strategy of and

implementing the rationalisation and divestment of the Group’s non-core and loss-making business operations. Ms Lee

has over 13 years of working experience in the accounting profession. Prior to joining the Group, Regina held the

position of Manager in the Corporate Finance Division of Ernst & Young. She holds a Bachelor of Business (major in

Accountancy) degree from Queensland University of Technology, Australia, and has been a member of CPA, Australia

and Malaysian Institute of Accountants since 1995 and 1996, respectively.

Leong Siew Why is Group Human Resource & Administration General Manager. He has 16 years of experience in

the instrument and control industry and more than 10 years of experience in management. Prior to joining the Group,

Mr Leong was with Yokogawa Engineering Asia Pte Ltd. Mr Leong holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical)

degree from National University of Singapore and a Master in Business Administration degree from University of

Bradford, United Kingdom.

Key Executives’ Profiles
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Lo Chin Mung joined the Company in January 2005 as General Manager (Project Administration), Fiber Division. He

is responsible for project contracts management, budgeting, schedule controls, planning and implementation. Mr Lo

has about 20 years of working experience in pulp & paper and control & instrumentation industries. Prior to joining the

Company, he was Senior Manager in Yokogawa Engineering Asia Pte Ltd. Mr Lo holds a Bachelor of Science in Electrical

& Electronic Engineering from University of Manchester, United Kingdom.

K. R. Natarajan is General Manager (Environment & Services), Fiber Division of the Company, responsible for

environment-related issues of the Group’s projects. Mr Natarajan has 30 years of experience in large integrated pulp &

paper companies in India and South East Asia. He has contributed his services in Malaysia, Thailand and Indonesia for

the past 16 years. Prior to joining the Company, he was with PT Indah Kiat Pulp & Paper Corporation. Mr Natarajan

graduated in Sciences majoring in Chemistry from Osmania University, India.

Rizka Sari Nauli Hutabarat is Director of PT MBBM and PT MAL, responsible for the corporate and legal matters.

She obtained her Bachelor of Law degree in 1993 from University of Krinadwipayana, Jakarta. She was certified as

Sworn Advocate by the Indonesian Ministry of Justice in 2002.

Svante Thorolf Nyfors is President Director of PT HRB, responsible for the overall direction and operations of the

plantation, including formulating strategies and policies of PT Hutan Rindang Banua. He has about 20 years of experience

in the pulp and paper industry. Prior to joining PT HRB, he was a Contracts Manager in PT Kiani Kertas. Mr Nyfors

graduated as an Electrical Engineer from the School of Technology, Vasa, Finland.

Tan Soon Kian is Executive Director of Poh Lian Construction Pte Ltd. Mr Tan is responsible for all matters including

project management, defect rectification, accounts, human resource and training, plant and machinery of the company.

Prior to joining PLC, Mr Tan was a quantity surveyor with Davis Langdon & Seah Singapore Pte Ltd. Mr Tan holds a

Diploma in Building from Singapore Polytechnic.

Voon Kim Loon is Executive Director of Poh Lian Realty Pte Ltd. He is responsible for project development, sales and

marketing, and property management of the company. Mr Voon has more than 10 years of experience in construction

industry. Mr Voon holds a Diploma in Civil Engineering from Singapore Polytechnic, a Bachelor (Honours) degree in Civil

Engineering from Monash University of Australia, and a Master of Science in International Construction Management

from Nanyang Technological University, Singapore.

Wong Yun Chong is General Manager (Power & Recovery), Fiber Division of the Company, responsible for the power

and recovery of the pulp mill. Mr YC Wong has more than 20 years of experience in the power and utility industry. Prior

to joining the Company, he was Senior Utility Manager of Titan Petrochemicals (M) Sdn Bhd. Mr YC Wong holds a

degree in mechanical engineering from National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan. He is also a Registered Engineer of

Factory & Machinery Department, Malaysia.

Key Executives’ Profiles
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This Report describes the corporate governance policies and practices of United Fiber System Limited (the “Company”)
during the financial year ended 31 December 2004. The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate
governance and putting in place effective self-regulatory corporate practices to preserve and enhance long-term
shareholders’ value. The Company has adopted the principles set out in the Code of Corporate Governance (the
“Code”) issued by the Corporate Governance Committee in 2001.

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1 Board’s Conduct of its Affairs
Principle 6 Access To Information

The principal functions of the Board are:

1) Approving the Board policies, strategies and financial objectives of the Company and monitoring the performance
of management;

2) Approving annual budgets, major funding proposals, investment and divestment proposals;

3) Overseeing the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial reporting
and compliance;

4) Approving the nominations of Board Directors and appointments to the various Board committees; and

5) Assuming responsibility for corporate governance and compliance with the Companies Act and the rules and
requirements of regulatory bodies.

Matters which are specifically reserved to the full Board for decision are those involving material acquisitions and
disposal of assets, major restructuring of core businesses, corporate or financial restructuring, share issuance and
dividend payments.

The Board meets twice a year to review and approve the announcement of the interim and full-year results of the
Company as warranted. In between Board meetings, important matters concerning the Group are also put to the
Board for its decision by way of circulating resolution-in-writing for the Directors’ approval. Ad-hoc meetings are
convened when circumstances require. Telephone conference for board meetings are allowed under the Company’s
Articles of Association. The attendance of the Directors at meetings of the Board and Board committees during the
year is as follows:

Audit Remuneration Nominating
Name of Director Board Meetings Committee Meetings Committee Meetings Committee Meetings

(A) (B) (A) (B) (A) (B) (A) (B)

Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström 2 2 – – – – – –

Chia Quee Hock, PBM 2 2 – – – – 0 0

Kishore Dass 1 0 0 – – – – – –

Lee Kan Yuk 2 1 – – 0 0 – –

Wong Vun Khi 2 2 – – – – – –

Lars Göran Bjurström 2 2 2 – – – – – –

Dr Toh Keng Kiat 3 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0

Ang Mong Seng, BBM 2 2 2 2 0 0 – –

Choo Lye Heng 2 2 2 2 – – 0 0

Ang Lian Hai 4 0 0 0 0 – – – –

Notes
1 Appointed as the CEO on 14.9.2004
2 Resigned as Executive Director on 8.10.2004
3 Resigned as Independent Director on 20.7.2004
4 Appointed as Independent Director on 20.10.2004

(A) Number of meetings held during the period the director was a member of the Board and/or Committee
(B) Number of meetings attended during the period the director was a member of the Board and/or Committee

Board members are provided with adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings, and on an ongoing basis.
The Board has separate and independent access to the Group’s senior management and the advice and services of the
Company Secretary who is responsible to the Board for ensuring board procedures are followed and the relevant
statutory rules and regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attended all board meetings.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Board takes independent professional advice as and when necessary to enable it to discharge its responsibilities
effectively. The Board is updated on the regulations of the SGX-ST, Companies Act, corporate governance policies and
other statutory requirements. Newly appointed Directors will be briefed on the Group’s businesses, operations and the
relevant regulations and governance requirements.

Principle 2 Board Composition and Balance

The Board comprises the following members:

Executive Directors
Mr Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström Chairman

Mr Chia Quee Hock, PBM Deputy Chairman

Mr Kishore Dass Chief Executive Officer (appointed on 14 September 2004)

Mr Lee Kan Yuk Chief Operating Officer

Mr Wong Vun Khi
Mr Lars Göran Bjurström (resigned on 8 October 2004)

Non-Executive Independent Directors
Mr Ang Mong Seng, BBM
Mr Choo Lye Heng
Mr Ang Lian Hai (appointed on 20 October 2004)

Dr Toh Keng Kiat (resigned on 20 July 2004)

The Board constantly reviews its composition of Directors to be satisfied that such composition is appropriate.
The independence of each director is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee, which confirms that the
independent directors made up at least one third of the Board. The Board is also satisfied that Mr Ang Mong Seng
can be considered independent, notwithstanding his relationship to Pengda Investment Development Pte Ltd,
an associate company of Poh Lian Construction Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which was
disposed of on 2 September 2004.

The Board will continually examine its size, the standing of its members in the business community, their experience,
knowledge and expertise provide for effective decision making and direction for the Group, in its vision to be one of the
major market pulp producers in the global wood-pulp industry.

Key information on the Directors set out on below and on pages 16 to 18 of the Annual Report.

Shareholding in Directorship Due for
Company & its (a) Date first appointed re-election

Name of Director Age Related Companies (b) Dated last re-elected at next AGM

Mr Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström 66 No. of Shares (a) 01.06.2002 Retirement
Direct Interest: (b) 23.05.2003 under Article 107
500,000

Mr Chia Quee Hock 61 No. of Shares (a) 02.12.1995 N.A.
Direct interest: (b) 23.04.2004
1,000
Indirect interest:
54,634,355

Mr Kishore Dass 47 - Nil - (a) 14.09.2004 Retirement
(b) N.A. under Article 117

Mr Lee Kan Yuk 44 - Nil - (a) 21.10.2002 Retirement
(b) 23.05.2003 under Article 107

Mr Wong Vun Khi 43 - Nil - (a) 12.03.2003 N.A.
(b) 23.05.2003

Mr Ang Mong Seng 55 - Nil - (a) 26.06.1997 N.A.
(b) 23.04.2004

Mr Choo Lye Heng 51 - Nil - (a) 16.04.1997 N.A.
(b) 23.05.2003

Mr Ang Lian Hai 44 - Nil - (a) 20.10.2004 Retirement
(b) N.A. under Article 117
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Principle 3 Role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO, which ensures an appropriate balance of
power between the Board and the CEO, thereby allowing increased accountability and greater independent decision-
making ability.

On 14 September 2004, Mr Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström relinquished his post as the CEO but remained as the
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company and Mr Kishore Dass was appointed as the new CEO. The Board
believes that Mr Dass’ vast experience in the pulp industry will prove beneficial in leading the Company into its new
phase of development.

The Chairman is responsible for all Board matters, including the compliance with the guidelines on corporate governance
procedures while the CEO has the executive responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Company and the
Group, as delegated by the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Executive Committee (“EXCO”)

The Executive Committee (“EXCO”) comprises:

Mr Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström Chairman

Mr Chia Quee Hock, PBM
Mr Kishore Dass (appointed on 14 September 2004)

Mr Lee Kan Yuk
Mr Wong Vun Khi
Mr Lars Göran Bjurström (resigned on 8 October 2004)

The role of the EXCO is to formulate the Group’s strategic development initiatives, provide directions for new investments
and business opportunities, review material financial and non-financial matters as well as oversee the Group’s conduct
and corporate governance structure. In carrying out their duties, the EXCO makes assessment and manages areas of
significant business and financial risks. The key areas include the inherent risks associated with the business operations
of the Group and financial risks associated with interest rate, liquidity, foreign currency and credit risks. The objective is
to ensure that the Group achieves its desired performance goals as well as enhance long-term shareholders’ value.

Nominating Committee (“NC”)

Principle 4 Board Membership

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises the following members:

Mr Choo Lye Heng Chairman

Mr Chia Quee Hock, PBM
Mr Ang Lian Hai (appointed on 22 February 2005)

Dr Toh Keng Kiat (resigned on 20 July 2004)

The NC’s principal functions are as follows:

• to identify candidates and review all nominations for the appointment or re-appointment of members of the Board
and the various Board committees for the purpose of proposing such nominations to the Board for its approval;

• to evaluate and assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and the contribution by each individual director to
the effectiveness of the Board;

• to decide how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria for the Board’s
approval; and

• to determine the independence of Directors.

New Directors are appointed by way of board resolutions, after the NC approves their appointment. Pursuant to Article
117 of the Company’s Articles of Association, such new Directors must submit themselves for re-election at the next
Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company.
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Article 107 of the Company’s Articles of Association requires one third of the directors, or the number nearest to one
third, to retire by rotation at every AGM.

The NC conducted two meetings via tele-conference during the year to recommend two new Directors for the Board’s
approval after Mr Sven Edström relinquished his post as CEO and the resignation of Dr Toh Keng Kiat and Mr Lars Göran
Bjurström. Mr Kishore Dass was subsequently appointed as Executive Director and CEO and Mr Ang Lian Hai as Non
Executive Independent Director of the Company.

Principle 5 Board Performance

No formal assessment of the Board was conducted for the year ended 31 December 2004 as the NC is still in the midst
of setting up the assessment system and procedures for implementation.

Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

Principle 7 Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 8 Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9 Disclosure on Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises the following members:

Mr Ang Mong Seng, BBM Chairman (appointed on 22 February 2005)

Mr Lee Kan Yuk
Mr Ang Lian Hai (appointed on 22 February 2005)

Dr Toh Keng Kiat (resigned on 20 July 2004)

The RC’s principal responsibilities are as follows:

• to review and recommend to the Board an appropriate and competitive framework of remuneration for the Board
and key executives of the Group to attract, retain and motivate management staff of the required calibre to manage
the Company successfully;

• to determine and recommend to the Board specific remuneration packages for each executive director, taking into
account factors including remuneration packages of executive directors in comparable industries as well as the
performance of the Company and that of the executive directors;

• to review the recommendation of the executive directors, for the approval of the Board, the fees of non-executive
independent directors; and

• to ensure the remuneration policies and systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and strategies.

The remuneration package adopted for the Executive Directors is as per the service contract entered into between the
respective Director and the Company. The NC, together with the RC, decides on the specific remuneration packages for
an Executive Director upon recruitment. Thereafter, the RC reviews subsequent increments, bonuses and allowances
where these payments are discretionary. No Director or member of the RC is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Non-Executive Independent Directors do not have any service contracts with the Company. Save for directors’ fees,
Non-Executive Independent Directors do not receive any remuneration from the Company.

Directors’ fees are set in accordance with a remuneration framework comprising basic fees, attendance fees and additional
fees for serving on any of the committees. Directors’ fees are to be approved by the shareholders of the Company as a
lump sum payment at the annual general meeting of the Company.

No immediate family members of a Director or CEO have remuneration exceeding S$150,000 during the year.
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Audit Committee (“AC”)

Principle 11 Audit Committee
Principle 12 Internal Control
Principle 13 Internal Audit (“IA”)

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises the following 3 members, all of whom are Non-Executive Independent Directors,
appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities:

Mr Choo Lye Heng Chairman (appointed on 22 February 2005)

Mr Ang Mong Seng, BBM
Mr Ang Lian Hai (appointed on 20 October 2004)

Dr Toh Keng Kiat (resigned on 20 July 2004)

The AC performs the following main functions:

• recommends to the Board of Directors the external auditors to be nominated;

• reviews the scope, audit plans, results and effectiveness of the internal and external auditors;

• reviews any related significant findings and recommendations of the internal and external auditors together with
management’s responses thereto;

• reviews the adequacy of the Group’s system of internal controls, financial and management reporting systems;

• reviews (with management, internal and external auditors) significant risks or exposures that exist and assesses the
steps management has taken to minimise such risks to the Group;

• reviews with management, internal and external auditors the announcement of the interim and full year results of the
Group and its financial statements;

• reviews interested party transactions as may be required by the regulatory authorities or the provisions of the
Companies Act;

• reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements; and

• reports actions and minutes of the AC to the Board of Directors with such recommendations as the AC
considers appropriate.

The internal and external auditors have direct and unrestricted access to the AC, which is empowered to conduct or
authorise investigations into any matters within its terms of reference.

The AC has full access to and co-operation from management, and has full discretion to invite members of management
to attend its meetings and has been given reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions. Minutes of the
AC meetings are submitted to the Board for its information.

Two AC meetings were held during the financial year ended 31 December 2004. All Directors who were members of the
AC were in attendance. Members of the management were also invited by the AC to one of the meetings to answer any
queries the AC may have. The members of the management were absent from one of the meetings for the purpose of
facilitating discussion of the responses by management on audit matters.

The Company’s internal audit function is outsourced to BDO International. The internal auditors reports directly to the
AC ensuring that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company
and the Group.

Internal Auditors, in the course of its audit, review the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management. Material non-compliance, internal control
weaknesses and key business risks noted during its audit and alignment plans to address these risks and weaknesses
are communicated to management accordingly and tabled for discussion at AC meetings with updates by management
on the status of these action plans. The AC has reviewed and is satisfied that existing controls in the Company and the
Group are adequate.

The AC has conducted an annual review of all non-audit services provided by the external auditor to satisfy itself that the
nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the auditors.
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In the opinion of the Directors, the Company is in compliance with the SGX-ST Best Practices guide on dealings in securities.

A breakdown showing the level and mix of remuneration paid to each director (in percentage terms) for FY2004 is as follows:

Remuneration Bands Directors’ Other Board Allowances
and Name of Director Salary Bonuses Fees CPF Committee Fees and Others Total

% % % % % % %

S$250,000 to S$500,000

Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström 85.85 – 6.02 – 3.01 5.12 100.00

Chia Quee Hock 88.91 – 6.09 3.63 0.91 0.46 100.00

Below S$250,000

Kishore Dass 1 72.04 – 3.99 – – 23.97 100.00

Lee Kan Yuk 87.93 – 8.14 0.27 1.22 2.44 100.00

Wong Vun Khi 89.86 – 9.66 – – 0.48 100.00

Lars Göran Bjurström 2 85.39 – – – – 14.61 100.00

Toh Keng Kiat 3 – – 60.22 – 36.14 3.64 100.00

Ang Mong Seng 4 – – 77.25 – 17.60 5.15 100.00

Choo Lye Heng 5 – – 69.08 – 25.16 5.76 100.00

Ang Lian Hai 6 – – 90.91 – 9.09 – 100.00

Notes
1 Appointed as Chief Executive Officer / Executive Director on 14.9.2004
2 Resigned on 8.10.2004
3 Resigned on 20.7.2004
4 Appointed as Acting Chairman of Remuneration Committee on 20.7.2004
5 Appointed as Acting Chairman of Audit Committee on 20.7.2004
6 Appointed as Non-Executive Independent Director and the Audit Committee Member on 20.10.2004

The following table sets out the range of gross remuneration received by the top 5 executives (excluding executive
directors) of the Group for FY 2004:

Remuneration Bands No. of Executives

$150,000 to $199,999 2

$100,000 to $149,999 3

Total 5

The Company currently does not have any employee share option schemes.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 10 Accountability & Audit
Principle 14 Communication with Shareholders
Principle 15 Greater Shareholder Participation

In line with the continuing disclosure obligations of the Company and pursuant to the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and
the Companies Acts, Chapter 50, shareholders shall be informed of all major developments that impact the Group in a
timely manner.

The Company does not practise selective disclosure. All material and price sensitive information as well as information
on the Company’s new initiatives are publicly released via MASNET/SGXNET and the press. In addition, the Company
also responds to enquiries from investors, analysts, fund managers and the press. All shareholders of the Company
receive a copy of the annual report and notice of Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) annually. Notice of the AGM is also
advertised in the newspapers and made available on the SGX-ST website. At AGM, shareholders are given the opportunity
to air their views and ask questions regarding the Company and the Group. The Articles of Association of the Company
allow shareholders to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

Each item of special business included in the notice of the meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an explanation
for the proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at the meeting. The
Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and Nominating Committees are normally available at the meeting to answer
those questions relating to the work of these committees. The external auditors are also present to assist the directors
in addressing any relevant queries by shareholders.
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INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

During the financial year, the following interested person transaction was entered into by the Company:

Aggregate value of all interested person Aggregate value of all interested person
transactions during the financial year under transactions conducted under shareholders’

review (excluding transactions less than mandate pursuant to Rule 920 of
$100,000 and transactions conducted under SGX Listing Manual (excluding transactions
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 920 less than $100,000 )

Name of interested person of SGX Listing Manual)
2004 2003 2004 2003

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Receipt of financial assistance
(by way of interest waiver)

Tektronix Industries Limited 284 – – –

Save for the interested person transaction disclosed above, there were no other material contracts entered into by the
Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of its chief executive officer, directors or controlling shareholders,
which are either still subsisting at the end of the financial year or, if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the
previous financial year.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted internal codes pursuant to the SGX-ST Best Practices Guide applicable to all its officers in
relation to dealings in the Company’s securities. Its Directors and officers are not allowed to deal in the Company’s shares
while in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information and during the period commencing one month
before the announcement of the Company’s financial results and ending on the date of the announcement of the results.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Effective Description
Group and Approximate

Held by Interest Location Land Area Tenure Usage

Singapore
United Fiber System Ltd 100% 103 Defu Lane 10, Land area: 30 years Office

Singapore 7,429.3 sqm lease premises
3-storey industrial
building

Indonesia
PT Hutan Rindang Banua 100% South Kalimantan, Within forest 43 years Plantation

Indonesia concession area lease quarters
base camp

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Singapore
Poh Lian Construction Pte Ltd 100% #13-05 Floor area: 99 years Residential

East Meadows 113 sqm leasehold properties
Taman Kechil Rd, (92 years
Singapore unexpired)

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Singapore
Poh Lian Realty Pte Ltd 50% The Mornington Land area: Freehold Residential

St Michael’s Rd, 1,256.8 sqm properties
Singapore 13 out of 28 units

have been sold.
People’s Republic of China
Dongshan Poh Lian Real Estate 100% Dongshan, Land area: 70 years 40 residential
Co Ltd Fujian Province, 4,347 sqm lease units and

People’s Republic 7-storey residential 46 shops
of China and commercial

building. 32 out of 86
units have been sold.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of United Fiber System
Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2004 and balance sheet of the
Company as at 31 December 2004.

Directors

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström - Chairman
Chia Quee Hock, PBM - Deputy Chairman
Kishore Dass - Chief Executive Officer
Lee Kan Yuk - Chief Operating Officer
Wong Vun Khi
Ang Mong Seng, BBM
Choo Lye Heng
Ang Lian Hai

In accordance with Articles 107 and 117 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström,
Kishore Dass, Lee Kan Yuk and Ang Lian Hai retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ interest in shares

The following Directors, who held office at the end of the year, had, according to the register of directors’ shareholdings
required to be kept under Section 164 of the Companies Act, an interest in shares of the Company and its related
corporations as stated below:

Direct interest Deemed interest

At the At the At the At the
beginning end beginning end

Name of Director of the year of the year of the year of the year

United Fiber System Limited
 (Ordinary shares of $0.10 each)

Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström - 500,000 - -
Chia Quee Hock, PBM 3,001,000 1,000 56,634,355 54,634,355
Ang Mong Seng, BBM 200,000 - - -

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests between the end of the year and 21 January 2005.

Except as disclosed in this report, no Director who held office at the end of the year had interests in shares or debentures
of the Company or of related companies either at the beginning of the year, or date of appointment if later, or at the end
of the year.

Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object is to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.
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Report of the Directors (cont’d)

Directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous year, no Director of the Company has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related company
with the Director, or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a
substantial financial interest.

Options

There is no option granted by the Company and its subsidiaries to take up unissued shares in the Company and its
related companies.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee performed the functions specified in the Companies Act. The functions performed are detailed in
the Corporate Governance Report.

Auditors

Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Kishore Dass
Chief Executive Officer

Chia Quee Hock
Deputy Chairman

Singapore
18 March 2005
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Statement by Directors
Pursuant to Section 201(15)

We, Kishore Dass and Chia Quee Hock, being two of the Directors of United Fiber System Limited, do hereby state that,
in the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2004 and of the results of the
business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Kishore Dass
Chief Executive Officer

Chia Quee Hock
Deputy Chairman

Singapore
18 March 2005
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Auditors’ Report
to the members of United Fiber System Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of United Fiber System Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 35 to 75 for the year ended 31 December 2004.  These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s directors.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those Standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

As more fully discussed in Note 40 to the financial statements, the Group accounted for its acquisition of Anrof Singapore
Limited (“ASL”) in 2002 using the “purchase method” in the Group’s financial statements.  The Directors are of the view
that for reasons stated in Note 40, the use of the “purchase method” should continue.  It is our view as auditors that the
acquisition meets the description of a reverse acquisition transaction in Singapore Financial Reporting Standard 22 -
Business Combinations and the Financial Reporting Standard 103 provides further guidance on how to account for
such transaction.

Had the principle of “reverse acquisition accounting” been applied, the amount of goodwill arising on consolidation, net
assets and shareholders’ equity, respectively, would have been reduced by approximately $224 million (2003: $229
million), and the profit for the year of $771,000 (2003: loss of approximately $34.9 million) would have been a profit of
approximately $5.3 million (2003: loss of approximately $30.4 million).

The auditors’ report on the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2003 was qualified for the same
reason.

In our opinion, except for the effects on the financial statements of the matter referred to in the preceding paragraphs,
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up in
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap.50 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December
2004, and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date.

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the
provisions of the Act.
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Auditors’ Report
to the members of United Fiber System Limited (cont’d)

Without further qualifying our opinion we draw attention to Note 41 to the financial statements. The Minister of Forestry
(“MOF”) issued a decree dated 24 October 2002 cancelling the rights of a subsidiary, PT Hutan Rindang Banua
(“PT HRB”) to develop industrial forest plantations (obtained through Ministry of Forestry Decree dated 27 February
1998).  PT HRB had filed a lawsuit against the MOF to the Jakarta Court for Government Administration
(Pengadilan Tata Usaha Negara) on 21 November 2002.  On 28 November 2002, the Jakarta Court for Government
Administration has issued a provisional decision letter which calls for the postponement of the execution of the MOF
decree.  On 11 June 2003, the Jakarta Court for Government Administration has ordered the MOF to withdraw the
decree revoking the grant of the concession right issued to PT HRB.  The MOF has filed an appeal application on the
court order.  On 18 March 2004, the Jakarta High Court for Government Administration issued a decision letter which
emphasize for the implementation of the provisional decision letter.  The MOF has further filed for an appeal to the
Supreme Court under the Memorandum of Appeal through the Jakarta State Administration Court on 15 April 2004.  As
the case is still pending, its final outcome is uncertain.  Pending the finalisation of the amicable settlement with the
MOF, PT HRB has also postponed the installment payments of its reforestation loan which were due on 15 July 2003,
15 January 2004, 15 July 2004 and 15 January 2005.

As a result of the above mentioned uncertainty, the carrying amount of the forest assets of approximately $316.1 million
(2003: $307.7 million), property, plant and equipment of approximately $4.9 million (2003: $6.1 million), and goodwill
arising on consolidation of approximately $278.1 million (2003: $285.8 million), as reflected on the balance sheet of
the Group as at 31 December 2004, may need to be adjusted depending on the outcome of the case.

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
18 March 2005
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2004

(In Singapore dollars)

Notes 2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Revenue 4 92,404 156,028

Cost of sales (84,950) (145,173)

Gross profit 7,454 10,855

Selling and distribution expenses (299) (983)

Administrative expenses (5,176) (6,677)

Other operating expenses (4,779) (8,600)

Other revenue 19,281 6,263

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
  amortisation 5 16,481 858

Depreciation and amortisation 6 (8,087) (9,051)

Operating profit/(loss) before interest, taxes
   and exceptional items 8,394 (8,193)

Finance costs 7 (1,788) (1,219)

Share of results of associates (93) 26

Exceptional items 8 54 (24,632)

Profit/(loss) before tax 6,567 (34,018)

Tax expenses 9 (5,796) (981)

Profit/(loss) after tax 771 (34,999)

Minority interests - 72

Net profit/(loss) for the year 771 (34,927)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (in cents) 10 0.04 (2.04)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (in cents) 10 0.04 (2.04)

The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 40 to 75 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2004

(In Singapore dollars)

Group Company
Notes 2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Forest assets 11 316,053 307,697 - -

Property, plant and equipment 12 18,516 20,454 10,317 10,629

Amount due from subsidiaries 13 - - 5,762 -

Investments in subsidiaries 14 - - 188,784 188,784

Investments in associates 15 - 471 - -

Investment properties 16 670 1,970 - -

Other investments 17 546 667 391 508

Goodwill on consolidation 18 278,139 285,777 - -

613,924 617,036 205,254 199,921

CURRENT ASSETS

Properties under development 19 - 6,818 - -

Completed properties held for sale 20 7,280 14,521 - -

Trade and other receivables 21 26,168 31,718 3,118 8,896

Cash at banks and in hand 22 11,891 3,045 5,911 489

45,339 56,102 9,029 9,385

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Construction progress
   billings in excess of costs 23 7,002 8,439 - -

Trade and other payables 24 41,526 51,795 29,418 21,065

Hire purchase creditors 25 30 64 - -

Provision for taxation 818 330 194 35

Amounts due to financial institutions 26 36,717 23,199 12,517 11,257

86,093 83,827 42,129 32,357

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (40,754) (27,725) (33,100) (22,972)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred taxation 27 (81,999) (79,682) - -

Non-current payables 28 (8,956) (26,141) (12,756) (26,141)

Hire purchase creditors 25 (18) (39) - -

Long term loans 29 (3,807) (18,304) (1,013) (2,016)

478,390 465,145 158,385 148,792

Financed by:

EQUITY

Share capital 30 181,081 171,081 181,081 171,081

Reserves 31 297,309 294,064 (22,696) (22,289)

MINORITY INTERESTS - - - -

478,390 465,145 158,385 148,792

The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 40 to 75 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2004

(In Singapore dollars)

Notes 2004 2003
$’000 $’000

SHARE CAPITAL 30
Balance at beginning of year 171,081 171,081
Issuance of ordinary shares 10,000 -

Balance at end of year 181,081 171,081

RESERVES

Share premium (1)

Balance at beginning of year 23,052 23,052
Premium arising from issuance of ordinary shares 9,340 -

Balance at end of year 32,392 23,052

Capital reserve
Balance at beginning of year 297,491 305,441
Transferred to accumulated losses (7,950) (7,950)

Balance at end of year 289,541 297,491

Foreign currency translation
Balance at beginning of year (5,683) (199)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (6,866) (5,484)

Balance at end of year (12,549) (5,683)

Accumulated losses
Balance at beginning of year (20,796) 6,181
Net profit/(loss) for the year 771 (34,927)
Transferred from capital reserve 7,950 7,950

Balance at end of year (12,075) (20,796)

TOTAL RESERVES 297,309 294,064

TOTAL EQUITY 478,390 465,145

Net loss not recognised in income statement (6,866) (5,484)

(1) The share premium account may be applied only for the purposes specified in the Companies Act. The balance
is not available for distribution of dividends except in the form of shares.

The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 40 to 75 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2004

(In Singapore dollars)

2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) before tax 6,567 (34,018)
Adjustments for:
   Depreciation and amortisation 8,087 9,051
   Exceptional items (54) 24,632
   Gain from increase in fair value less estimated
      point-of-sale costs of forest assets (19,070) (3,030)
   Gain from disposal of interest in joint venture by subsidiary - (74)
   Interest expenses 1,788 1,219
   Interest income (10) (27)
   Impairment in value of completed properties held for sale - 80
   Impairment in value of investment properties - 700
   Impairment in value of other investments 117 50
   Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 35 701
   Property, plant and equipment written-off 170 94
   Reversal of impairment loss in value of other investments - (114)
   Reversal of impairment in value of property, plant and equipment - (2,300)
   Share of results of associates 93 (26)
   Net exchange differences 338 (119)

Operating loss before working capital changes (1,939) (3,181)

Decrease in properties under development - 44,087
Decrease/(increase) in completed properties held for sale 14,059 (11,849)
(Increase)/decrease in construction work-in-progress, net of
   construction progress billings in excess of costs (766) 10,309
Decrease in inventories - 45
Decrease in trade and other receivables 6,903 227
Decrease in trade and other payables (8,114) (7,175)

Cash generated from operations 10,143 32,463
Income taxes paid (3) (299)
Interest paid (1,275) (1,359)

Net cash generated from operating activities 8,865 30,805
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2004 (cont’d)

(In Singapore dollars)

Notes 2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Addition in cost of forest assets (922) (1,014)
Interest received 10 27
Proceeds from disposal of associates 486 -
Proceeds from disposals of assets held for sale - 1,200
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 170 1,141
Proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed - 3,043
Purchase of investment properties - (2,000)
Purchase of other investments - (39)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (722) (434)

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (978) 1,924

Cash flows from financing activities

Advances to a partnership - (64)
Proceeds from/(repayment of) bank borrowings, net 2,312 (36,819)
Repayment of hire purchase (55) (641)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 2,257 (37,524)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10,144 (4,795)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 835 5,630

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 32 10,979 835

The accompanying policies and explanatory notes on pages 40 to 75 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2004

1. Corporate information

United Fiber System Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company which is incorporated and domiciled
in Singapore.

The registered office of the Company is located at 103 Defu Lane 10, Poh Lian Building 1, Singapore 539223.

The principal activities of the Company which are conducted in Singapore are those of an investment holding
company.  The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.

Related companies in the financial statements refer to the United Fiber System Limited group of companies.

The Group operates in 8 countries (2003: 8), and the Company and Group employed 23 and 448 employees
(2003: 25 and 471) respectively as of 31 December 2004.

2. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements, which are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $), have been prepared on a
historical cost basis except for the measurement of forest assets at fair value less estimated point-of-sale
costs and investment properties at valuation.

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (FRS) as required by the Companies Act, Cap. 50.  Further details are
provided in Note 40 to the financial statements.

The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Company and are consistent with those
used in the previous year.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the realisation
of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. As at 31 December 2004, the
Company’s and the Group’s current liabilities exceeded their current assets by $33,100,000 (2003:
$22,972,000) and $40,754,000 (2003 : $27,725,000) respectively.

Included in the Company’s and the Group’s current liabilities is the outstanding Loan Note of $7,500,000
(2003 : Nil) and the current portion of the deferred cash settlement amounting to approximately $17,749,000
(2003 : $19,904,000) relating to the acquisition of Anrof Singapore Ltd (“ASL”) group of companies.
Notes 26 and 28 to the financial statements provides in greater detail the Loan Note and the deferred
cash settlement.

In addition, the current portion of the long-term reforestation loan of a subsidiary company of approximately
$15,300,000 (2003 : $9,356,000) is included in the Group’s current liabilities.  The repayment of the loan
is pending the finalisation of the settlement with the Minister of Forestry on the forestry concession right
dispute.  Note 41 to the financial statements provides in greater detail the status of the forestry concession
right dispute and the reforestation loan.

Having regards to the basis of settlement, for the acquisition of Anrof, and the Company’s and the
Group’s financing plans, the Company and the Group will be able to meet their obligations as and when
they fall due.
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries, after the elimination of all material intragroup transactions and resulting unrealised profits.
Unrealised losses resulting from intragroup transactions are also eliminated unless costs cannot be
recovered.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which the Group ceases to have control of the subsidiaries. Acquisitions of
subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions
and other events in similar circumstances.

(c) Goodwill on consolidation

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of identifiable net assets
of subsidiaries and associates at the date of acquisition.  Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses.  Goodwill is amortised using the straight-line method over a
period of up to 20 years unless a longer period is justified.

(d) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is a company in which the Group, directly or indirectly, holds more than 50% of the issued
share capital, or controls more than half of the voting power, or controls the composition of the board of
directors.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment losses.

(e) Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group has long-term interest of not less than
20% nor more than 50% of the equity and in whose financial and operating policy decisions the Group
exercises significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The
Group’s investments in associates include goodwill (net of accumulated amortisation) on acquisition,
which is treated in accordance with the accounting policy for goodwill stated in Note 2 (c) above.

The most recent available audited financial statements of the associates are used by the Group in applying
the equity method. Where the dates of the audited financial statements used are not co-terminous with
those of the Group, the share of results is arrived at from the last audited financial statements available
and unaudited management financial statements to the end of the accounting period.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2004 (cont’d)
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(f) Joint  ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other entities undertake an economic
activity, which is subject to joint control.

The Group’s interest in joint ventures is accounted for by proportionate consolidation which involves
recognising a proportionate share of the joint venture’s assets, liabilities, income and expenses with
similar items in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

(g) Forest assets

Forest assets which are merchantable and mature are measured at their fair value less estimated point-
of-sale costs. The fair value of the forest assets is estimated based on market prices of the standing
stock of merchantable forest assets in its present location and condition excluding all the costs associated
with the re-establishment and future plantation management. Forest assets are considered merchantable
or mature upon attaining 5 years of age. Non-merchantable or immature forest assets which are aged
below 5 years are accounted for in the financial statements at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses.  A gain or loss arising from changes in fair value less estimated point-of sale costs of forest
assets is recognised in the income statement for the period in which it arises.

Deferred tax liability arising from the temporary differences between the tax base of forest assets and
their carrying amount is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(x).

Regular valuation by independent professional valuer is carried out to ascertain the fair value less estimated
point-of-sale costs of forest assets.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
in value.

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties
and non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use, any trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at
the purchase price.  Expenditure incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which the costs are incurred.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained
from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of
performance, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of property, plant and equipment.

The estimated costs of restoring the site of items of property, plant or equipment are included as part of
the asset cost.

The Company does not have a policy on revaluation.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2004 (cont’d)
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold buildings and improvement - period of lease (15 - 40 years)
Plant and machinery - 5 to 10 years
Motor vehicles - 5 to 10 years
Furniture and fittings - 5 to 10 years
Office equipment and computers - 3 to 10 years

No depreciation is provided on freehold land.

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no
longer in use and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets.

The useful life and depreciation methods are reviewed annually to ensure that the method and period of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property, plant
and equipment.  An assessment of the carrying value of property, plant and equipment is made when
there are indications that the assets have been impaired or the impairment losses recognised in prior
years no longer exist.

(i) Investment properties

Investment properties are investment in properties that are not occupied substantially for use by or in the
operations of the Group.  They are accounted for as long-term investments and are carried in the balance
sheet at revalued amounts based on annual directors’ valuation.  Professional valuation is made once
every three years.

The surplus on revaluation is credited directly to revaluation reserve unless it reverses a previous revaluation
decrease relating to the same class of assets, which was previously recognised as an expense.  In these
circumstances, the increase is recognised as income to the extent of the previous write down.  Any deficit
on revaluation is recognised as an expense unless it reverses a previous surplus relating to that asset, in
which it is charged against any related revaluation surplus, to the extent that the decrease does not
exceed the amount held in the revaluation surplus in respect of that same class of assets.

Any balance remaining in the revaluation surplus in respect of an investment property, is transferred
directly to accumulated profits on retirement or disposal of property.

(j) Other investments

Other investments held on a long term basis are stated at the lower of cost and marketable value.

(k) Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at cost which comprises land and all other incidental and
development expenditure, including interest expense thereon.  Upon receipt of temporary occupation
permits, properties under development are transferred to current assets as completed properties held for
sale.

Profits recognised on properties under development which have been sold are based on the percentage
of completion method. Profit recognised in the financial statements is the direct proportion of total estimated
profit attributable to the actual sales contracts signed, but only to the extent that it relates to the stage of
physical completion at the end of the period and after making provision for contingencies.  When losses
are expected, full provision is made in the financial statements after adequate allowance has been made
for estimated costs to completion.

Profits on partly completed projects which are held for sale less any provision to reduce cost to estimated
realisable value as well as the profit or loss on sale of completed properties are included in the operating
results for the year.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2004 (cont’d)
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(l) Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost includes
land, development and all other incidental expenditure, including interest incurred during the period of
construction.

(m) Construction work-in-progress

Construction work-in-progress comprises uncompleted building contracts.  It is valued at cost plus a
proportion of estimated profits earned to date less progress billings received or receivable, using the
percentage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by reference to the physical
completion of the contract work as certified by the architect. Full provision is made for estimated losses
to completion where applicable.

Cost comprises materials, labour and other overhead and incidental costs including interest expense.

(n) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have been granted 30 to 90 days credit terms, are recognised and
carried at original invoice amount less impairment losses on any uncollectible amounts.

Receivables from subsidiaries and associates are recognised and carried at cost less impairment losses
on any uncollectible amounts.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks.

For the purpose of the cash flows statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of outstanding
unsecured bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and which form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

Secured bank overdrafts are treated as bank borrowings and have been included as part of
financing activities.

(p) Trade and other payables

Liabilities for trade and other payables, which are normally settled on 30 - 90 days terms, are carried
at cost.

Payables to subsidiaries and associates are carried at cost.

(q) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation where, as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

(r) Borrowings

Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and the expenditure and
borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are ready for their
intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment
loss is recorded.

Borrowings are recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs
associated with the borrowings.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2004 (cont’d)
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(s) Leases

Finance lease

Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at amounts equal, at the inception of the lease, to the fair
value of the leased item or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments
are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are charged directly to
the income statement.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the
lease term.

Operating lease

Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
leased item, are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(t) Impairment of assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement or treated as a revaluation
decrease for assets carried at revalued amount to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed
the amount held in the revaluation surplus for that same asset.

Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when there is an indication that the
impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist or have decreased.  The reversal is recorded
as an income or as a revaluation increase.  However, the increased carrying amount of an asset due to a
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised to the extent it does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for that asset in prior years.

(u) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met
before revenue is recognised:

Construction contracts

Contract revenue and contract costs are recognised as revenue and expenses, respectively, when the
outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably.

Revenue arising from fixed price contracts is recognised using the percentage of completion by reference
to the stage of completion. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the physical completion
of each project.
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(u) Revenue (cont’d)

Property development

Revenue from property development is recognised using the percentage of completion by reference to
the stage of completion which is measured by the progress of construction work.  The progress of
construction work is arrived at by the proportion of progress claims made to-date to the estimated total
project revenue of each project.

Rental of equipment

Rental income of equipment is recognised over the period of rental.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised upon the passing of title to the customer which generally coincides with delivery
and acceptance of the goods sold.

Rendering of services

For non-construction contracts, when the contract outcome can be reliably measured, revenue is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion. When the contract outcome cannot be reliably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised, which are recoverable.

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (taking into account the effective yield on the asset) unless
collectibility is in doubt.

Dividend

Revenue is recognised when dividends are received.

Management fee

Management fee is recognised when corporate services are rendered.

Rental income

Rental income arising on investment properties is recognised on a time apportionment basis.

(v) Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the
transaction dates. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into the respective
measurement currencies at exchange rates ruling at balance sheet date.  All resultant exchange differences
are recognised in the income statement, except for loans to Indonesia subsidiaries which are deemed as
part of the Company’s net investments.  All resultant exchange differences arising from the translation of
the loan are taken directly to foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated into SGD equivalents at exchange
rates ruling at balance sheet date.  Revenue and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for
the year. All resultant exchange differences are taken directly to foreign currency translation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign entity, accumulated exchange differences are recognised in the income statement
as a component of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the acquiring entity and are recorded at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(w) Employee benefits

Pensions and other post employment benefits

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which
it has operations. In particular, Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central
Provident Fund schemes in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme.  Contributions to national
pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance
sheet date.

(x) Tax expenses

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance
sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled
based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can
be utilised.

At each balance sheet date, the Group re-assesses unrecognised deferred tax assets and the carrying
amount of deferred tax assets.  The Group recognises a previously unrecognised deferred tax asset to
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered. The Group conversely reduces the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or the entire
deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax are charged or credited directly to the equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or
charged, in the same or a different period, directly to equity.

(y) Segmental information

The Group’s operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of
products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers
different products and serves different markets.  Segment accounting policies are the same as the policies
described in Note 2.  The Group generally accounts for inter-segment sales and transfers as if the sales
or transfers were to third parties at current market prices.  Revenues are attributed to geographic areas
based on the location of the assets producing the revenues which generally coincides with the location of
the customers.

Goodwill arising from consolidation and the related amortisation are considered part of the investing
activities and included in the “Others” segment.

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2004 (cont’d)



48

Adding Value

3. Group companies

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Country of
incorporation Percentage of
and place of Cost less equity held

Name of company business Principal activities impairment by the Group
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 % %

Direct subsidiaries

Poh Lian Construction Pte Ltd (1) Singapore Building contractors 8,475 8,475 100 100
and property developer

Poh Lian Development Singapore Dormant - - 100 100
  Pte Ltd (1)

Poh Lian International Singapore Dormant - - 100 100
  Pte Ltd (1,4)

Poh Lian Trading Pte Ltd (1, 4) Singapore Dormant - - 100 100

Yew Hock Marine Pte Ltd (1,7) Singapore Rental and staging of - - 100 100
marine scaffolding and
marine engineering
activities

Yew Hock Trading Pte Ltd (1) Singapore Manufacturing and - - 100 100
trading of scaffolding
systems

Sin Poh Lian Sdn Bhd (3a) Malaysia Investment holding - - 100 100

Anrof Singapore Ltd (2) Mauritius Investment holding 180,309 180,309 100 100

Poh Lian (Cambodia) Ltd (4) Cambodia Dormant - - 100 100

 188,784 188,784

Indirect subsidiaries

Poh Lian Realty Pte Ltd (1) Singapore Property development - - 100 100

Fortune Nest Sdn Bhd (3b) Malaysia Property investment - - 100 100

Dongshan Poh Lian Real People’s Property development - - 100 100
  Estate Co. Ltd (3c) Republic

of China

PT Hutan Rindang Banua (2) Indonesia Forestry operation - - 100 100

PT Marga Buana Bumi Mulia (2) Indonesia Dormant.  Intend to - - 100 100
undertake pulp mill
operation
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3. Group companies (cont’d)

Details of the subsidiaries and associates are as follows:

Country of
incorporation Percentage of
and place of Cost less equity held

Name of company business Principal activities impairment by the Group
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 % %

Indirect subsidiaries (cont’d)

PT Mangium Anugerah Indonesia Dormant.  Intend to - - 95 95
  Lestari (5) undertake

woodchip mill
operation

Pacificwood Investment Ltd (3d) Mauritius Investment holding - - 100 100

Shinning Spring Resources British Investment holding  - - 100 100
  Ltd (4,5) Virgin

Islands

Indirect associates

Magnate Property Sdn Bhd (3e) Malaysia Property development - - 48 48

Poh Lian Training & Bangladesh Dormant - - 30 30
 Management (Bangladesh)
 Pvt Ltd (5)

Pengda Investment & Singapore Investment holding - - - 30
 Development Pte Ltd (6) (Place of and property

business: development
People’s
Republic
of China)

(1) Audited by Ernst & Young, Singapore
(2) Audited by member firms of Ernst & Young Global in the respective countries
(3) Audited by other firms

(a) Chong & Associates, Malaysia
(b) Ng Joo How & Wan, Malaysia
(c) Dongshan Yongdexin Certified Public Accountants, People’s Republic of China
(d) H&A Partners, Chartered Certified Accountants
(e) S. H. Lim & Co., Malaysia

(4) Cost of investment does not exceed $1,000
(5) No audit is required in the country of incorporation
(6) Disposed during the year
(7) Placed in members’ voluntary liquidation
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4. Revenue

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Construction contract revenue 75,961 107,395
Property development revenue 16,146 44,511
Rental of equipment - 2,490
Other contract revenue (1) 44 1,522
Rental income 253 110

92,404 156,028

(1) Other contract revenue represents revenue from sale of goods and rendering of services in relation to
non-construction contracts.

5. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation is derived after charging/(crediting):

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Auditors’ remuneration:
   - non-audit services 83 133
Directors’ fees
   - current 226 213
   - overprovision in prior year (91) -
Directors’ remuneration 1,267 1,693
Gain arising from increase in fair value less estimated
   point-of-sale costs of forest assets (Note 11) (19,070) (3,030)
Gain on disposal of interest in joint venture by subsidiary - (74)
Gross dividend income from quoted investments (5) (7)
Impairment in value:
   - completed properties held for sale - 80
   - properties under development - 338
Interest income from:
   - deposits (5) (7)
   - receivables (5) (20)
Reversal of impairment in value of:
   - property, plant and equipment - (2,300)
   - other investments - (114)
Staff costs:
   - Contribution to defined contribution plans 87 90
   - Salaries, wages, bonuses and other costs 1,468 1,500
Subcontract income (67) (513)
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5. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (cont’d)

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Other operating expenses

Allowance for doubtful debts (net of written back) 1,408 2,075
Subsidiaries directors’ fee
   - current - 38
   - overprovision in prior years (30) (70)
Subsidiaries directors’ remuneration 329 777
Staff costs :
   - contribution to defined contribution plans 121 172
   - salaries, wages, bonuses and other costs 1,044 2,150
Bad debts written off (net of written back) 1,024 2
Foreign exchange loss :
   - realised 2 -
   - unrealised 68 734
Impairment in value :
   - investment properties - 700
   - other investments 117 50
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 35 701
Operating lease charges 389 490
Property, plant and equipment written-off 170 94
Professional fees - 338
Others 102 349

4,779 8,600

6. Depreciation and amortisation

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Depreciation of:
   - assets held for sale - 256
   - property, plant and equipment (Note 12a) 449 1,157
Amortisation of goodwill on consolidation (Note 18) 7,638 7,638

8,087 9,051

Depreciation and amortisation can be further analysed by functions as follows:

Other operating expenses 449 1,413
Other expenses 7,638 7,638

8,087 9,051
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7. Finance costs

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Interest expenses:
   - Bank loans 748 676
   - Bank overdrafts 209 500
   - Hire purchase 1 38
   - Others - 5
Financing commitment fees 830 -

1,788 1,219

8. Exceptional items

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Allowance for doubtful debts
   - Columbarium development project (1) - 19,893
   - Associates - 1,312
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries - 3,091
Loss on disposal of assets held for sale - 62
Provision for impairment loss in associates - 274
Gain on disposal of associates (54) -

(54) 24,632

(1) This is related to the write-off of the trade receivables and advances made to a partnership in respect of
the proposed sale of columbarium development project at Choa Chu Kang, Singapore, which has been
disposed of during the year.

9. Tax expenses

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Current tax:
   Singapore 596 -
   Overseas 3 1
Deferred taxation (Note 27)
   Singapore (149) (56)
   Overseas 5,566 909

Current year tax expense 6,016 854
(Over)/under provision in respect of previous years (225) 127

5,791 981
Associates 5 -

Tax expenses 5,796 981
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9. Tax expenses (cont’d)

A reconciliation between the tax expenses and the product of accounting profit/(loss)  multiplied by the applicable
tax rate for the year is as follows:

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Profit/(loss) before tax and minority interests 6,567 (34,018)

Tax at domestic rate applicable to profits/(losses)
    in the countries concerned 3,074 (10,359)

Adjustments:
Permanent differences/expenses not deductible
   for tax purposes 2,153 8,039
Deferred tax assets not recognised 866 3,309
Tax effect on (over)/under provision in respect of
   previous years (225) 127
Effect of changes in tax rate (15) -
Others (62) (135)

Tax expenses 5,791 981

A loss transfer system of group relief (group relief system) for companies was introduced in Singapore with effect
from year of assessment 2003. Under the group relief system, a company belonging to a group may transfer its
current year unabsorbed capital allowances, current year unabsorbed trade losses and current year unabsorbed
donations (loss items) to another company belonging to the same group, to be deducted against the assessable
income of the latter company.

The Company and certain subsidiaries intend to transfer trade losses of approximately $970,000 (2003:
$2,677,000) to a subsidiary under the group relief system, subject to compliance with the relevant rules and
procedures and agreement of Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore.

The Group has unabsorbed tax losses of approximately $27,948,000 (2003: $23,474,000) and unabsorbed
capital allowances of approximately $104,000 (2003: $1,594,000) available for offset against future taxable
income subject to the agreement of Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore and compliance with certain provisions
of the Singapore Income Tax Act. No deferred tax asset is recognised due to uncertainty of the recoverability of
these losses and allowances.

As at 31 December 2004, there is no recognised or unrecognised deferred income tax liability (2003: Nil) for
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries and associates, as
the Group has no liability to additional taxation should such amounts be remitted due to the availability of double
taxation relief.

Following the change in Singapore corporate tax rate from 22% to 20%, the effect of the change has been
incorporated in the above.
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10. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year adjusted for the effects of the dilution
arising from the issuance contingent of the consideration shares comprising 178,416,242 (2003: 281,331,190)
new ordinary shares of $0.10 each for the acquisition of the Anrof Singapore Limited (“ASL”) group of companies.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations
for the years ended 31 December:

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders for
   basic and diluted earnings per share 771 (34,927)

‘000 ‘000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue
   applicable to basic earnings per share 1,781,646 1,710,812

Effect of issuance of 102,914,948 shares as part
   payment of the deferred cash settlement - 102,915

Effect of option to issue 88,858,242 shares as
   balance payment of the deferred cash settlement (1) 88,858 88,858

Effect of issuance of 89,558,000 shares as second
   tranche consideration shares 89,558 89,558

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares
   applicable to diluted earnings per share 1,960,062 1,992,143

(1) Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement dated 11 March 2004, the Company has the option to settle
the balance of the deferred cash settlement by way of cash or issuance of new shares (Note 28).

11. Forest assets

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 307,697 310,610
Cost incurred during the year (1) 1,353 1,492
Gain arising from changes in fair
   value less estimated point-of-sale (2) 19,070 3,030
Foreign exchange alignment (12,067) (7,435)

Balance at end of year 316,053 307,697

(1) Included in cost incurred during the year is depreciation of $431,000 (2003: $478,000).

(2) The gain is mainly attributable to increased trend in plantation pulpwood prices and increase in the forest
asset maturity associated with the biological growth of the forest.
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11. Forest assets (cont’d)

Further details of the total carrying value are as follows:

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

At fair value less estimated point-of-sale cost

   Mixed tropical hardwood 183,618 204,208
   Industrial forest plantation - mature 132,435 103,489

316,053 307,697

The valuation of the forest assets is made by the Directors based on the report issued by an independent
professional valuer, Jaakko Pöyry Consulting (“JP”).  Significant basis of JP’s valuation report are as follows :

(i) Merchantable forest assets are at least 5 years of age;

(ii) Merchantable forest assets are measured at its fair value less establishment costs; and

(iii) Fair value of merchantable forest assets is determined based on market prices in the local area.

The liquidation value given in the valuation report is based on the estimated value of all merchantable natural
forest and plantation forest and excludes all costs associated with re-establishment and future plantation
management.

PT Hutan Rindang Banua, a wholly-owned subsidiary, is engaged in the development of industrial forest plantation.
Based on the Decree of the Indonesian Minister of Forestry dated 27 February 1998, the subsidiary is granted
concession right to develop an industrial forest plantation covering 268,585 hectares of forest situated in South
Kalimantan for a period of 43 years, including the first plantation cycle of 8 years, effective from the date the
Decree was issued.

Prior to obtaining the above concession right, the subsidiary has commenced its development activities of the
industrial forest plantations in 1995 based on the Decree of the Governor of South Kalimantan, Indonesia dated
18 January 1995 concerning the land provision for the industrial forest plantation provided to the former shareholder
of the subsidiary.

Currently, the subsidiary is still in the development stage or in the first plantation cycle of 8 years.  Included in the
existing forest concession are remaining logged over mixed tropical hardwood forest and industrial forest plantation
as follows:

Group
2004 2003

Mixed tropical hardwood 41,290 Ha 42,220 Ha

Industrial forest plantation 58,896 Ha 58,896 Ha

Total 100,186 Ha 101,116 Ha

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk arising from changes in market value of the merchantable
standing stock of forest assets.  However, as the forest assets have been ear-marked for the future production
of the pulp mill project, the Group has not entered into derivative or other contracts to manage the risk of
decline in market prices.
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11. Forest assets (cont’d)

In line with the market practice, the Group has not procured fire insurance on its forest assets. However, the
Group has ensured that the firebreaks and other fire fighting measures are in place to prevent any possible
destruction to the forest.

Agriculture produce from the forest assets are pledged as security for a reforestation loan given to a subsidiary.

Note 41 to the financial statements provides in greater detail the status of the outstanding legal case relating to
the forestry concession right.

12. Property, plant and equipment

Computers,
Leasehold office
buildings equipment, Capital

and Plant and Motor furniture and work-in
Group improvement machinery vehicles fittings progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost
   At beginning of year 21,458 7,402 1,131 1,341 - 31,332
   Additions - 13 13 38 658 722
   Disposals - (663) (68) (158) - (889)
   Written off - (263) - (228) - (491)
   Net exchange differences (1,138) (29) (15) (8) - (1,190)

   At end of year 20,320 6,460 1,061 985 658 29,484

Accumulated
   depreciation
   and impairment

   At beginning of year 4,599 4,604 560 1,115 - 10,878
   Charge for the year 738 635 94 81 - 1,548
   Disposals - (499) (66) (119) - (684)
   Written off - (100) - (221) - (321)
   Net exchange differences (405) (26) (14) (8) - (453)

   At end of year 4,932 4,614 574 848 - 10,968

Net book value

   At end of year 15,388 1,846 487 137 658 18,516

    At beginning of year 16,859 2,798 571 226 - 20,454
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12. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

(a) Details of the depreciation charge for the year are as follows:

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Charged to income statement (Note 6) 449 1,157
Capitalised in construction work in progress/
   construction progress billings in excess costs
   (Note 23) 668 778
Capitalised in forest assets (Note 11) 431 478

1,548 2,413

(b) The net book value of property, plant and equipment held under hire purchase agreements are as follows:

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Motor vehicles 166 346

(c) The details of the leasehold buildings and improvement are as follows:

(i) Building at 103 Defu Lane 10, Singapore 539223 with net book value of $10,286,000 (2003:
$10,589,000);

(ii) Commercial retail unit in Amcorp Mall, Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia with net book value of
$182,000 (2003: $191,000); and

(iii) Base camp located in the forest concession area in South Kalimantan, Indonesia with net book
value of $4,920,000 (2003: $6,079,000).

(d) Two of the leasehold properties and certain plant and machinery have been charged for borrowings by
the Group (Note 26 and 29).
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12. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Computers,
Leasehold office

building equipment,
and Motor furniture and

Company improvement vehicles fittings Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost

   At beginning of year 12,103 3 382 12,488
   Additions - - 12 12

   At end of year 12,103 3 394 12,500

Accumulated depreciation
   and impairment

   At beginning of year 1,514 2 343 1,859
   Charge for the year 303 - 21 324

   At end of year 1,817 2 364 2,183

Net book value

   At end of year 10,286 1 30 10,317

   At beginning of year 10,589 1 39 10,629

The leasehold building and improvement refers to the building at 103 Defu Lane 10, Singapore 539223.
The leasehold building has been charged as security for borrowings by the Company (Note 26 and 29).

13. Amounts due from subsidiaries (Non-current)

Company
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

 Amounts due from subsidiaries 5,762 -

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and not expected to be repaid within the next
12 months.
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14. Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 190,348 192,434
Less: Impairment loss (1,564) (3,650)

188,784 188,784

Provision for impairment loss is analysed as follows :
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year (3,650) (5,737)
Provision made during the year - (3,036)
Written-off against the provision during the year 2,086 5,123

(1,564) (3,650)

15. Investments in associates

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 275 725
Net exchange differences - (58)
Share of post acquisition (loss)/profit (1) 78
Less :  Impairment loss (274) (274)

- 471

16. Investment properties

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

At valuation 670 1,970

The details of the investment properties are as follows:

(a) A 99-year leasehold “East Meadows” condominium unit of approximately 113 sqm situated at
Tanah Merah Kechil Rd, #13-05, Singapore 465558 with carrying value of $670,000  (2003: $670,000).
This investment property has been charged for borrowings by the Group (Note 29); and

(b) A 3-storey semi-detached house situated at 2A Jalan Rasok, Singapore 739641 with carrying value of nil
(2003 : $1,300,000).  The amount was reclassified to other debtors during the year as the vendor failed
to deliver the strata title for the said property and recourse was sought as an unsecured creditor.

The investment property at “East Meadows” is stated at directors’ valuation, based on the most recent
independent professional valuation carried out by Knight Frank Pte Ltd in August 2003.
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17. Other investments

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At market value
Quoted shares 391 508 391 508
Club membership 155 159 - -

546 667 391 508

The quoted shares have been charged for borrowings by the Group and Company (Note 26).

18. Goodwill on consolidation

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Cost
   Balance at beginning and end of year 297,870 297,870

Accumulated amortisation
   Balance at beginning of year (12,093) (4,455)
   Charge for the year (Note 6) (7,638) (7,638)

   Balance at end of year (19,731) (12,093)

Net book value
   Balance at end of year 278,139 285,777

The goodwill on consolidation, arising from the acquisition of the ASL group of companies in 2002, is to be
amortised over 39 years which represents the remaining lease period of the forest concession right of the
ASL group of companies.

The accounting treatment of the acquisition of ASL group of companies is provided in Note 40 to the
financial statements.

19. Properties under development

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Freehold land, at cost - 5,661
Development expenditure - 2,170
Interest capitalised - 1,005

- 8,836
Less: Impairment loss - (1,598)

- 7,238
Transferred to cost of sales in income statement - (420)

- 6,818
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19. Properties under development (cont’d)

The details of the properties under development are as follows:

Freehold land of approximately 1,256.8 sqm jointly held with a joint venture partner for the residential development,
“The Mornington”, situated at 16 St Michael’s Road, Singapore 328005.  As a result of the completion of the
project during the year, the cost for the remaining unsold units were transferred to completed properties held for
sale (Note 20).

20. Completed properties held for sale

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

At cost 1,909 2,096
At net realisable value 5,371 12,425

7,280 14,521

The completed properties held for sale at 31 December 2004 consist of

(a) A 7-storey leasehold residential and commercial development with site area of approximately 4,347 sqm,
situated in Dongshan, People’s Republic of China; and

(b) A 10-storey freehold residential development, “The Mornington”, with site area of approximately
1,256.8 sqm, situated at 16 St Michael’s Road, Singapore 328005.

The Mornington was transferred from “Properties under development” (Note 19) as a result of the completion
of the project during the year.

21. Trade and other receivables (Current)

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 20,779 25,533 - -
Prepayments 1,509 1,380 413 53
Deposits 515 300 14 10
Receivables from subsidiaries:
   - Trade - - 532 762
   - Non-trade - - 1,096 6,772
Non-trade receivables from associates 2,241 2,329 1,045 1,045
Amounts due from sub-contractors - 1,642 - -
Other receivables 1,124 534 18 254

26,168 31,718 3,118 8,896

Included in trade receivables are retention sums of $7,794,000 (2003: $9,933,000).

Non-trade receivables from subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable upon
demand.
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22. Cash at banks and in hand

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Held under project accounts 2,843 1,460 - -
Others 9,048 1,585 5,911 489

11,891 3,045 5,911 489

As required by the Ministry of National Development (the “Ministry”), the project accounts were maintained with
financial institutions for housing development projects undertaken by a subsidiary.  The operation of the project
accounts is restricted to the specific projects and governed by rules and regulations stipulated by the Ministry.

23. Construction work-in-progress/construction progress billings in excess of costs

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Construction work-in-progress

Cost incurred 172,456 197,605
Add: Attributable profits recognised progressively 12,100 6,407

184,556 204,012
Less: Progress billings received and receivable (184,556) (204,012)

- -

Construction progress billings in excess of costs

Progress billings received and receivable 347,653 347,555
Less: Costs incurred (327,299) (325,865)
Less: Attributable profits recognised progressively (13,352) (13,251)

7,002 8,439

Included in costs incurred during the financial year are the following:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 12a) 668 778
Interest on hire purchase 3 3
Operating lease charges 41 39
Staff costs:
   - Contribution to defined contribution plans 205 331
   - Salaries, wages, bonuses and other costs 2,540 3,068
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24. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 18,822 26,362 - -
Accrued expenses 2,891 3,041 885 521
Accrual for Directors’ fee and
   variable bonus 216 510 216 510
Deferred cash settlement (Note 28) 17,749 19,904 17,749 19,904
Others 1,836 1,965 44 30
Non-trade payables to subsidiaries - - 10,524 100
Non-trade payables to associates 12 13 - -

41,526 51,795 29,418 21,065

Included in others are amounts owing to directors of a subsidiary of approximately $396,000 (2003: $348,000)
which are non-trade in nature, unsecured and interest-free and are repayable on demand.

Non-trade payables to subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable upon demand,
except for a loan amount of approximately $9,407,000 (2003 : $100,000) which bears interest at 4.5% (2003:
Nil) per annum.

25. Hire purchase creditors

Group
Present Present

Minimum value of Minimum value of
payments payments payments payments

2004 2004 2003 2003
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within one year 32 30 67 64
After one year but not
   more than five years 19 18 41 39

Total minimum payments 51 48 108 103
Less : Amounts
   representing interest (3) - (5) -

Present value of
   minimum payments 48 48 103 103
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26. Amounts due to financial institutions

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Short-term loan, secured (i) 1,502 6,597 1,502 6,597
Short-term loan, secured (ii) 132 167 132 167
Short-term loan, secured (iii) 2,383 - 2,383 -
Short-term loan, secured (iv) 106 - - -
Short-term loan, unsecured (v) 7,500 - 7,500 -
Current portion of long-term loans,
   secured (Note 29) 23,203 10,576 1,000 1,000
Bank overdrafts:
   - secured 979 3,649 - 3,493
   - unsecured (Note 32) 912 2,210 - -

36,717 23,199 12,517 11,257

(i) This loan is secured by a first legal mortgage on 103 Defu Lane 10, Singapore 539223 and corporate
guarantees given by two of the subsidiaries, and bears interest at 2.88% (2003: 4.03%) per annum.

(ii) This loan is secured by quoted investment by the Company. Interest is charged at 6% (2003: 6%) per
annum.

(iii) This loan is secured by a charge on fixed deposit of a shareholder and bears interest from 2.625% to
2.6875% (2003: Nil) per annum.

(iv) This loan is secured by corporate guarantee given by the Company and proceeds from certain construction
projects.  It bears interest at 5.25% (2003: Nil) per annum.

(v) This loan relates to the Loan Note which is interest free within 120 days of drawdown and bears interest
at 12% per annum thereafter.

In addition, the Company had entered into an Equity Line with the same financial institution, which requires
the latter to subscribe for new ordinary shares of up to $40 million for a period of 5 years commencing 7
December 2004.  The Equity Line remained at $40 million as at 31 December 2004.

The bank overdrafts are secured by corporate guarantee given by the Company and proceeds from certain
construction projects of a subsidiary, and bear interests at 5.5% (2003: 5.5% to 6.25%) per annum.
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27. Deferred taxation

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities

Excess of tax written down value net book value of
   plant and machinery (460) (599)
Revaluation of forest assets (81,913) (79,254)
Other deferred tax liabilities - (32)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (82,373) (79,885)

Deferred tax assets

Excess of tax written down over net book value of plant
   and machinery - 6
Unabsorbed tax losses and capital allowances - 175
Provisions - 22
Other deferred tax assets 374 -

Gross deferred tax assets 374 203

Net deferred tax liabilities (81,999) (79,682)

The Company has unutilised tax losses of approximately $9,251,000 (2003 : $6,623,000) that are available for
offset against future taxable profits of the Company in which the losses arose for which no deferred tax asset is
recognised due to the uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of
the tax authorities in Singapore and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of Singapore.

28. Non-current payables

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred cash settlement (i)(a) 17,749 37,089 17,749 37,089
Second tranche of 89,558,000
   new ordinary shares to be
   allotted and issued (i)(b) 8,956 8,956 8,956 8,956
Amount due to subsidiaries - - 3,800 -

26,705 46,045 30,505 46,045
Current portion (Note 24) (17,749) (19,904) (17,749) (19,904)

Non-current portion 8,956 26,141 12,756 26,141

(i) The above balances relate to a portion of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of ASL group of
companies during prior year.

(a) Represents an amount of US$9.7m (2003 : US$20.3m) which is payable within 365 days.

Pursuant to the supplemental agreement signed on 11 March 2004 (the “Supplemental Agreement”), the
vendors of the ASL group of companies had agreed to extend part of the settlement, of approximately
US$9.4 million (equivalent to approximately $17.2 million) to 31 May 2005. This  payment can be settled
by way of cash or issuance of new shares at the option of the Company.
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28. Non-current payables (cont’d)

The amount has been transferred to other payables as it is repayable within 12 months from the end of
the year and shall be satisfied by the issue of 88,858,242 additional shares at an issue price of $0.1934
to the vendors on or before 31 May 2005, subject to the receipt of all consents and approvals required
under all and any applicable laws.

(b) The Company had agreed to allot and issue 89,558,000 new ordinary shares upon the satisfaction of
certain conditions precedents, including the completion of the sale and purchase agreement between an
Indonesia subsidiary and a third party relating to the purchase of the forest plantation in Kalimantan,
Indonesia.

Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the Company and vendors had mutually agreed to extend the
shares issuance to 31 December 2006.

29. Long term loans

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Long-term loan (i) 18,270 20,397 - -
Long-term loan (ii) 6,300 4,955 - -
Long-term loan (iii) 2,013 3,016 2,013 3,016
Long-term loan (iv) 427 512 - -

27,010 28,880 2,013 3,016
Repayable within 12 months (Note 26) (23,203) (10,576) (1,000) (1,000)

Repayable after 12 months 3,807 18,304 1,013 2,016

(i) This loan is secured by property, plant and equipment of a subsidiary, agriculture produce from the forest
asset and the corporate guarantee of a former shareholder of a subsidiary.  It is interest-free and repayable
in full by year 2006.  Note 41 to the financial statements explains in greater detail the reforestation loan.

(ii) This loan is secured on a property under development and corporate guarantee of the Company and a
joint venture partner.  It bears interest at 5.09% (2003: 4.80%) per annum and is repayable in full by year
2005.

(iii) This loan is secured by first legal mortgage on 103 Defu Lane 10, Singapore 539223 and corporate
guarantee given by two subsidiaries.  It is repayable in full by 2007 and bears interest at 3.15% (2003:
2.66%) per annum.

(iv) This loan is secured by an investment property and corporate guarantee of the Company.  It is repayable
in fully by 2009 and bears interest at 5.375% (2003: 5.25%) per annum.
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30. Share capital

Group and Company
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Authorised:
   3,000,000,000 (2003:3,000,000) ordinary shares of $0.10 each 300,000 300,000

Issued and fully paid:
   Balance at beginning of year:
      1,710,812,320 (2003: 1,710,812,320) ordinary shares of $0.10 each 171,081 171,081

   Increase during the year:
      100,000,000 (2003: Nil) ordinary shares of $0.10 each 10,000 -

   Balance at end of year:
      1,810,812,320 (2003: 1,710,812,320) ordinary
         shares of $0.10 each 181,081 171,081

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company.  All
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction.

During the year, 100,000,000 ordinary shares of $0.10 each were issued at a premium of $0.0934 per share as
part of the consideration for the acquisition of ASL group of companies.

Details of potential shares to be issued pursuant to agreement are provided in Note 26(v) and Note 28.

31. Reserves

Company
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Share premium (1)

Balance at beginning of year 23,052 23,052
Premium arising from issuance of ordinary shares 9,340 -

Balance at end of year 32,392 23,052

Accumulated losses

Balance at beginning of year (45,341) (20,996)
Net loss for the year (9,747) (24,345)

Balance at end of year (55,088) (45,341)

(1) The share premium account may be applied only for the purposes specified in the Companies Act. The
balance is not available for distribution of dividends except in the form of shares.
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32. Cash and cash equivalents

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Cash at banks and in hand (Note 22) 11,891 3,045
Bank overdrafts, unsecured (Note 26) (912) (2,210)

10,979 835

33. Advances to a partnership

Poh Lian Development (“PLD”) Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a partnership to develop and
manage a columbarium development at Choa Chu Kang, Singapore in 2000.  PLD’s role in the partnership is
mainly to provide finance for the construction of the columbarium. Temporary Occupation Permit (“TOP”) for the
columbarium was granted in July 2001. As at 31 December 2004, the Group had provided advances amounting
to approximately $15,603,000 (2003: $15,603,000) through PLD and this balance included accumulated interest
of approximately $2,142,000  (2003: $2,142,000) charged on the principal amount of the advances.  The advance
to a partnership is unsecured, interest free (2003: nil) and had no fixed terms of repayment.

In addition to the advances made to the partnership, the Group also had the following financial positions in
relation to the partnership:

Group and Company
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Corporate guarantee given to bank for bank
   loans to partners (Note 37) - 24,800

Trade receivables from a related party of a
   partner, net of provision - -

- 24,800

On 9 December 2003, PLD, together with the other two partners, accepted an offer to sell the partnership’s
entire interest in the Columbarium Project (the “Proposed Sale”). On 30 August 2004, the Proposed Sale has
been completed.  Pursuant to the completion of the sale, the corporate guarantee given by the Group has been
fully discharged.  As the entire sale proceeds from the Proposed Sale will be used to repay the amounts due to
the bank, allowance for doubtful receivables has been made for the advances of approximately $15,603,000
(2003: $15,603,000) and doubtful trade receivable of approximately $5,100,000 (2003 $5,100,000).

In addition, a subsidiary has an amount of $2,324,000 (2003 : $2,324,000) due from a related party of a partner
in relation to the construction of the columbarium. During the year, both parties agreed that $1,300,000 as full
and final settlement.  The remaining of $1,024,000 was written off as bad debts.
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34. Segmental information

(a) Business segments

Property Forestry
Construction development and pulp Others Elimination Consolidated

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Segment revenue

Revenue from external
   customers 75,961 107,395 16,146 44,521 - - 297 4,112 - - 92,404 156,028

Inter segment revenue - 5,075 - - - - 1,272 1,916 (1,272) (6,991) - -

Total revenue 75,961 112,470 16,146 44,521 - - 1,569 6,028 (1,272) (6,991) 92,404 156,028

Segment  results 1,374 1,320 (205) 4 18,454 1,157 (11,181) (10,999) (48) 325 8,394 (8,193)

Interest  expenses (1,788) (1,219)

Share of results of associates (93) 26

Exceptional items 54 (24,632)

Profit/(loss)  before tax 6,567 (34,018)

Tax expenses (5,796) (981)

Minority interests - 72

Net profit/ (loss) for the year 771 (34,927)

Inter segment transactions are determined at terms agreed between segments.

Property Forestry
Construction development and pulp Others Consolidated
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Segment assets 28,379 37,170 12,443 22,569 321,961 314,024 296,480 298,904 659,263 672,667
Investments in associates - 471 - - - - - - - 471

Consolidated total assets 28,379 37,641 12,443 22,569 321,961 314,024 296,480 298,904 659,263 673,138

Segment liabilities 28,042 36,425 6,948 6,011 103,177 102,640 41,428 61,978 179,595 207,054

Unallocated corporate liabilities - - - - - - - - 1,278 939

Consolidated total liabilities 28,042 36,425 6,648 6,011 103,177 102,640 41,428 61,978 180,873 207,993

Capital expenditure 51 264 - - 659 3 12 167 722 434

Depreciation and amortisation 119 181 5 8 - 2 7,963 8,860 8,087 9,051

Impairment loss - 1,024 - 418 - - 117 - 117 1,442

Reversal of impairment loss - - - - - - - (2,414) - (2,414)

Notes to the Financial Statements
- 31 December 2004 (cont’d)



70

Adding Value

34. Segmental information (cont’d)

(b) Geographical segments

Other
Asia-Pacific

Singapore countries Consolidated
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total revenue from
   external customers 92,130 145,677 274 10,351 92,404 156,028

Segment assets 56,799 70,655 602,464 602,483 659,263 673,138

Capital expenditure 63 367 659 67 722 434

35. Operating lease commitments

The Group and Company lease certain properties under lease agreements that are non-cancellable within a year.
Lease terms do not contain restrictions concerning dividend, additional debts or further leasing.  Future minimum
lease payments for all leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more are as follows:

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

(a) Operating lease payable

Within one year 441 504
After one year but not more than five years 1,320 1,428
After five years 1,152 1,482

2,913 3,414

(b) Operating lease income receivables

Within one year 179 195
After one year but not more than five years 68 247

247 442
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36. Capital commitment

Pulp Mill Project

On 18 December 2002, the Company announced that PT Marga Buana Bumi Mulia (“PT MBBM”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary incorporated in Indonesia, entered into a turnkey contract with China National Machinery &
Equipment Import & Export Corporation (“CMEC”) for the construction of major parts of a bleached hardwood
kraft pulp (“BHKP”) mill in South Kalimantan, Indonesia, with a capacity of 600,000 air dry tonnes per year for a
total development cost of up to US$863 million.

Under the turnkey contract, CMEC is responsible for financing 80% of the development cost and PT MBBM is
responsible for the remaining 20%. The repayment of the CMEC financing, together with interest, shall only
commence upon the commissioning of the BHKP mill which is estimated to be 36 months from the commencement
of the construction.

Woodchip mill

On 24 December 2004, the Company announced that PT Mangium Lestari Mangium (“PT MAL”), a 95% owned
subsidiary incorporated in Indonesia, entered into a turnkey contract with CMEC for the construction of a
woodchip mill in South Kalimantan, Indonesia, with a capacity of 700,000 tonnes of woodchips per year for a
total development cost of up to US$39 million.

Financial arrangements for the development cost have been concluded. A facility agreement for US$21 million
has been signed with Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG (RZB-Austria) Singapore Branch.  This is in addition
to the US$18 million supplier credit extended by CMEC.

37. Contingent liabilities

Group Company
2004 2003 2004 2003

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Corporate guarantees given to:
- a bank for bank

loans to partners
of a subsidiary’s
partnership - 24,800 - 24,800

- banks for
banking facilities
to subsidiaries - - 27,680 46,219

- 24,800 27,680 71,019

Financial support
given to those
subsidiaries
having deficiencies
in shareholders’
funds - - 78 3,723

Guarantees and
Performance bonds 1,912 275 1,912 28,320
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38. Interest in joint venture

A subsidiary of the Company is a 50% joint venture partner of a property development project with China
Construction Realty Co. Pte Ltd. The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint
venture, which are included in the consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

Group
2004 2003
$’000 $’000

Non-current assets - 6,817
Current assets 8,637 100

Total assets 8,637 6,917
Current liabilities (459) (685)
Non-current liabilities (6,300) (4,955)

Net assets 1,878 1,277

Revenue 3,290 -
Expenditure (3,354) (792)

(64) (792)

39. Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to market risk, including primarily changes in interest rates and currency exchange
rates. It does not use derivative instruments in connection with its risk management activities and does
not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The Board reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group obtains additional financing through bank borrowings and leasing arrangements.  The Group’s
policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt.

Surplus funds are placed with reputable banks.

Information relating to the Group’s interest rate exposure is also disclosed in the notes on borrowings,
including leasing obligations.

Liquidity risk

To ensure continuity of funding, the Group’s policy is that the debt maturity profile should support the
operating cycle of the business. Funding is obtained from overdraft and loan facilities.

Foreign currency risk

The Group incurs foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in currencies other than
Singapore Dollars. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the Chinese Renminbi, Indonesian
Rupiah and Malaysian Ringgit.

The management ensures that the net exposure is maintained at an acceptable level by buying and
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term balances.
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39. Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk

Credit risk is limited to the risk arising from the inability of a debtor to make payments when due.  It is the
Group’s policy to provide credit terms to creditworthy customers.  These debts are continually monitored
and therefore, the Group does not expect to incur material credit losses.

The carrying amount of trade and other debtors and cash and bank balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk. No other financial assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single customer.

Commodity price risk

Details on commodity price risk are provided in Note 11.

(b) Fair value

Recognised financial instruments

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, cash, bank overdraft, bills payable, trade and other
payables, short-term loans approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

The fair value of long-term quoted investments is their quoted bid price at the balance sheet date.

The fair value of investment properties is their market value of which valuation is based on independent
valuers’ report.

No disclosure of fair value is made for certain secured long term loans payable to the banks, like project
land loans and construction loans, as it is not practicable to determine their fair values with sufficient
reliability since the repayment terms for these balances are dependent on the progress of the projects.

No disclosure of fair value is made for certain non-current payables and certain non-interest bearing
loans, as it is not practicable to determine the fair value since the balances are non-interest bearing.

40. Accounting for the acquisition of ASL

In 2002, the Company acquired Anrof Singapore Limited (“ASL”). Goodwill resulting from the acquisition of
approximately $298 million had been recorded in the consolidated financial statements.  The amount represents
the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair values of the assets and liabilities of ASL.

The acquisition was accounted for using the “purchase method” which is consistent with that applied in the
proforma financial statements prepared by the reporting accountants, for inclusion in the Company’s circular to
the shareholders dated 28 March 2002 in relation to the acquisition (“the Circular”), and were stated by the
reporting accountants as having been prepared in accordance with Singapore Statements of Accounting Standard
(“SAS”).  Following the completion of the acquisition on 31 May 2002, the acquisition was accounted for using
the same “purchase method” in the Group’s financial statements for the half year ended 30 June 2002, which
have been reviewed by the Directors in conjunction with the auditors prior its release for MASNET announcement
on 25 September 2002.
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40. Accounting for the acquisition of ASL (cont’d)

To the best of the Company’s knowledge:

(i) SAS 22 (2000) Business Combinations, the accounting standard which governs the accounting
treatment of the acquisition was issued in August 2000, and hence was already in issue at the date of
the Circular; and

(ii) SAS 22 (2000) recognised that in the case of a reverse acquisition, such acquisition should be
accounted for using “reverse acquisition accounting”.  However, SAS 22 (2000) does not provide any
specific guidance on the application of the “reverse acquisition accounting”.

The Directors are of the view that the acquisition should continue to be accounted for using the “purchase
method” in the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 based on the following:

• The “purchase method” has been consistently applied in the proforma financial statements in the
accountants’ report for inclusion in the Circular and were stated by the reporting accountants as having
been prepared in accordance with SAS.

• The “purchase method” has also been consistently applied in the Group’s financial statements for the
half-year ended 30 June 2002 which were reviewed by the Directors in conjunction with the auditors prior
to its release on MASNET.

• FRS 22 (2002: SAS 22 (2000)) does not provide any specific guidance on how the “reverse acquisition
accounting” can be applied.

• FRS 103 was issued by the Council on Corporate Disclosure and Governance (CCDG) in 2004.  FRS 103
provides detailed guidance on “reverse acquisition accounting” and shall apply to accounting for Business
Combinations for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2004.  Since the current financial year
commenced before 1 July 2004, FRS 103 shall then not apply in FY2004.

41. Status of the outstanding legal case relating to the forestry concession right and the
reforestation loan

The Indonesia Minister of Forestry (“MOF”) issued a decree dated 24 October 2002 cancelling the right of
PT HRB to develop industrial forest plantations (obtained through Ministry of Forestry Decree dated 27 February
1998).  PT HRB had filed a lawsuit against the MOF to the Jakarta Court for Government Administration (Pengadilan
Tata Usaha Negara) on 21 November 2002.  On 10 June 2003, the Indonesian Court has ordered the MOF to
withdraw the decree revoking the grant of the concession right issued to PT HRB.  The MOF has filed an appeal
application on the court order which was defeated by the Jakarta High Court.  Consequently, the MOF has filed
another appeal with the Supreme Court.  To-date, PT HRB is awaiting for the judgement of the Supreme Court.
Based on the legal advice and on going discussions with the newly appointed MOF, the Directors are optimistic
that the case will be resolved in favour of the company. As announced on 16 March 2005, the new MOF has
recently issued a letter (“the Letter”) to PT HRB stating that the Ministry of Forestry is willing to settle the court
proceedings with PT HRB out of court based on certain terms and conditions. The Company is currently delibrating
the Letter and will decide on the appropriate next course of action.
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41. Status of the outstanding legal case relating to the forestry concession right and the
reforestation loan (cont’d)

Pending the finalisation of the settlement with the MOF on the court case, PT HRB has also postponed instalment
payments of its reforestation loan which were due on 15 July 2003,  15 January 2004, 15 July 2004 and 15
January 2005. Under the loan agreement, if a demand notification letter from PT Bank Mandiri Tbk (Pensero) (the
“Bank”) is issued, and the payment default is not settled within 30 days from the issuance of the demand
notification letter, the Bank can declare the whole loan as due immediately and demand for immediate payment
of the loan including the fiduciary transfer over the right of PT HRB’s assets pledged as collaterals.  On 10
January 2005, PT HRB received a letter from the Bank reminding PT HRB of the past due instalments as
mentioned above, and also informing the penalty of 2% above the normal loan interest rate on these past due
instalments.  The repayment of the loan due is pending the finalisation of the settlement with the new MOF on the
forest concession right dispute.

42. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures in the income statement have been reclassified to conform with current year’s
presentation.  Details of the reclassification are as follows:

Reclassified Previous
2003 2003
$’000 $’000

Other operating expenses (8,600) (9,816)
Other revenue 6,263 7,479

Odd job expenses incurred for labour loaned-out previously included in other operating expenses amounting
$1,216,000 have now been offset against subcontract income in other revenue.  This was to better reflect the
net gain arriving from the deployment of odd job labour.

The above reclassifications have not resulted in any changes in the net effect of the income statement.

43. Related party disclosures

Details on corporate guarantee given to subsidiaries are provided in Note 37.

Executive officers’ remuneration

Executive officers’ remuneration totaled $741,130 (2003: $606,376).

44. Authorisation of financial statements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the directors on 18 March 2005.
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Statistics of Shareholdings
as at 15 March 2005

Authorised Share Capital : S$300,000,000

Issued and fully Paid Up Capital : S$181,081,232

Classs of shares : Ordinary share of S$0.10 each

Voting Rights : One (1) vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

No. of
Size of Shareholdings Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 - 999 170 2.38 82,040 0.00
1,000 - 10,000 4,587 64.12 17,578,503 0.97
10,001 - 1,000,000 2,316 32.37 177,893,450 9.83
1,000,001 and above 81 1.13 1,615,258,327 89.20

Total 7,154 100.00 1,810,812,320 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 Tektronix Industries Limited 553,764,284 30.58

2 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 391,519,670 21.62

3 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 117,675,000 6.50

4 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 79,671,056 4.40

5 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 76,712,000 4.24

6 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 39,656,000 2.19

7 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 26,185,000 1.45

8 SBS Nominees Pte Ltd 25,045,000 1.38

9 Mayban Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 20,834,355 1.15

10 Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd 18,016,538 0.99

11 Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd 12,750,000 0.70

12 Malayan Banking Berhad 12,000,000 0.66

13 Heng Tin Meng 11,700,000 0.65

14 G K Goh Stockbrokers Pte Ltd 10,667,224 0.59

15 Drayson Technology Limited 10,000,000 0.55

16 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 9,196,000 0.51

17 Law Peng Khoon 8,915,000 0.49

18 Mah Siew Hoe 8,850,000 0.49

19 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 8,225,500 0.45

20 Liuw Santoso 7,053,000 0.39

Total 1,448,435,627 79.98
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Shareholding Statistics
as at 15 March 2005 (cont’d)

Substantial Shareholders

Direct Interest Deemed Interest Total

No. Name No. of share % No. of shares % No. of share %

1 Tektronix Industries Limited* 553,764,284 30.58 318,750,000 17.60 872,514,284 48.18

2 Wisanggeni Lauw** 0 0.00 201,716,716 11.10 201,716,716 11.10

3 HSBC Institutional Trust
Services (Singapore) Limited* 100,000,000 5.50 0 0.00 100,000,000 5.50

4 DBS Vickers Securities (S)
Pte Ltd 218,750,000 12.08 0 0 218,750,000 12.08

Note :
1 872,514,284 shares are held as follows:

(a) 553,764,284 shares registered in own name
(b) 218,750,000 shares registered in the name of DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd
(c) 100,000,000 shares registered in the name of HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited (“HTSG”)

2 201,716,716 shares held as follows:
(a) 93,432,660 shares registered in DBS Vickers Securities Pte Ltd - Wisanggeni Lauw
(b) 68,284,056 shares registered in the name of UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd
(c) 10,000,000 shares registered in the name of Drayson Technology Limited
(d) 30,000,000 shares registered in the name of United Overseas Bank Nominees

* Tektronix Industries Limited deemed interest comprise the same 100 million escrow shares held by HTSG
as its direct interests pursuant to the Escrow Deed - Shares entered by the Company, Cornell Capital
Partners Offshore, LP and HTSG.

** Wisanggeni Lauw is deemed to have interest in the shares held by his spouse in Adriatic by virtue of
provision under Section 7, Companies Act, Chapter 50.”

Public Shareholding
Based on the Registers of Shareholders and to the best knowledge of the Company, the percentage of shareholdings
held in the hands of the public is approximately 38%.  The Company is therefore in compliance with Rule 723 of the
SGX-ST Listing Manual.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

UNITED FIBER SYSTEM LIMITED
(Company Registration No: 199508589E)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of UNITED FIBER SYSTEM LIMITED (the “Company”)
will be held on 22nd April 2005, at The Board Room, 103 Defu Lane 10, Poh Lian Building 1, Singapore 539223,
at 10:00 a.m. to transact the following businesses:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial
year ended 31st December 2004, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To approve payment of Directors’ fees totalling $216,208 for the financial year ended
31st December 2004. (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors who are retiring pursuant to the Articles of Association of
the Company:

a. Mr. Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström (Article 107) (Resolution 3a)

b. Mr. Lee Kan Yuk (Article 107) (Resolution 3b)

c. Mr. Kishore Dass (Article 117) (Resolution 3c)

d. Mr. Ang Lian Hai (Article 117) * (Resolution 3d)

4. To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorise the
Directors to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 4)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS: **

5. To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution, with
or without modifications:

“THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, and the listing rules of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors be and are hereby authorised
to issue shares in the Company (whether by way of bonus issue, rights issue or otherwise) at
any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as
the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that:

(i) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution does not
exceed 50% of the issued share capital of the Company, of which the aggregate number
of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company does not exceed 20% of the Company’s issued Share Capital;

(ii) for the purposes of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued
under (i) above, the percentage of issued share capital shall be based on the issued
share capital of the Company at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities
or employee share options that are outstanding when this Resolution is passed;
and

(b) any subsequent consolidation or sub-division of shares; and

(iii) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a General Meeting, such authority conferred
by this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.” (Resolution 5)
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Notice of Annual General Meeting (cont’d)

6. To transact any other business that may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

TAN HWEE ENG, BLOSSOM
Company Secretary
Singapore
7 April 2005

* Statement pursuant to Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited:

Mr. Ang Lian Hai is currently deemed to be an independent director of the Company.  If re-elected, he will remain
as a member of the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee and will be considered
as an independent director of the Company.

** Explanatory Notes on Special Business to be Transacted:

Ordinary Resolution 5

Ordinary Resolution 5 will empower the Directors from the date of the Annual General Meeting until the date of
the next Annual General Meeting to issue further shares in the Company.  The maximum number of shares,
which the Directors may issue under this resolution, shall not exceed the quantum set out in the resolution.

Notes:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a
proxy to attend and vote on his/her behalf.  A proxy NEED NOT be a member of the Company.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at 103 Defu Lane 10,
Poh Lian Building 1, Singapore 539223, not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the Annual
General Meeting.

3. The form of proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.

4. In case of joint shareholders, all holders must sign the form of proxy.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
TO BE HELD ON 22ND APRIL 2005

I/We   Name)

of   (Address)
being a member/members of the abovenamed Company hereby appoint the Chairman of the Meeting or:

NRIC/Passport Proportion of
Name Address Number Shareholding (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

NRIC/Passport Proportion of
Name Address Number Shareholding (%)

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us and, if necessary, to demand for a poll on my/our behalf at
the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 22nd April 2005 at 10:00 a.m. and at any adjournment
thereof.  I/We direct my/our proxy to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting in the manner
indicated below:

No. Resolution To be used on To be used in
a show of hands  the event of a poll

No. of votes No. of votes
For* Against* for against

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. Directors’ Report, Audited Financial Statements &
Auditors’ Report

2. Approval of Directors’ Fees

3. Re-election of Directors:

a. Mr Sven Gösta Thordsson Edström (Article 107)

b. Mr Lee Kan Yuk (Article 107)

c Mr Kishore Dass (Article 117)

f. Mr Ang Lian Hai (Article 117)

4. Re-appointment of Auditors

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

5. Authority to directors to issue and allot shares pursuant to
Section 161 of the Companies Act (Cap. 50).

* Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a “✔ ” within the box provided.

If no specific direction as to voting is given, my/our proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion as
he/they will on any matter arising at the meeting

Dated this  day of  2005.

Signature(s) of Member(s) / Common Seal of Corporate Member

To be valid, this form must be lodged at the Company’s registered office at 103 Defu Lane 10, Poh Lian Building 1, Singapore
539223, not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the Annual General Meeting.

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

Proxy Form

UNITED FIBER SYSTEM LIMITED
(Company Registration No: 199508589E)

IMPORTANT

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to
buy UNITED FIBER SYSTEM LIMITED shares, this
Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request
of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely
FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors
and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if
used or purported to be used by them.

✁

Total No. of
Shares Held
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EXPLANATORY NOTES FOR PROXY FORM:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have shares entered against your name in the
Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap 50, Singapore Statutes), you should
insert that number of shares.  If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the
Company, you should insert that number of shares.  If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register and shares registered against your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate
number of shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the
Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to
relate to all the shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or
two proxies to attend and vote instead of him.

3. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4. Where a member of the Company appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he
specifies the proportion of his shareholding expressed as a percentage of the whole to be represented by each
proxy.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at 103 Defu
Lane 10, Poh Lian Building 1, Singapore 539223, not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the
Annual General Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing the proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly
authorised in writing.  Where the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must
be executed either under its Common Seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

7. Where the instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power
of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with
the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

GENERAL:

The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the
true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument
appointing the proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of members whose shares are deposited with The Central
Depository (Pte) Limited, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if such members
are not shown to have their names entered against their names in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

IMPORTANT:

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy UNITED FIBER SYSTEM LIMITED shares, this
Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR
INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if
used or purported to be used by them.

Proxy Form (cont’d)





Adding
Value

United Fiber System Ltd

ANNUAL REPORT

United Fiber System Ltd

(Company’s Registration No. 199508589E)

103 Defu Lane 10

Poh Lian Building 1

Singapore 539223

Tel: (65) 6284 6006

Fax: (65) 6284 0074

www.ufs.com.sg

U
n

ite
d

 F
ib

e
r S

y
s
te

m
 L

td
   A

N
N

U
A

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 2

0
0

4


